

DECODING LEARNING: THE PROOF, PROMISE AND POTENTIAL OF DIGITAL EDUCATION

Rosemary Luckin, Brett Bligh, Andrew Manches, Shaaron Ainsworth, Charles Crook, Richard Noss

November 2012



About Nesta

Nesta is the UK's innovation foundation. We help people and organisations bring great ideas to life. We do this by providing investments and grants and mobilising research, networks and skills.

We are an independent charity and our work is enabled by an endowment from the National Lottery.

Nesta Operating Company is a registered charity in England and Wales with company number 7706036 and charity number 1144091. Registered as a charity in Scotland number SC042833. Registered office: 1 Plough Place, London, EC4A 1DE

www.nesta.org.uk

© Nesta 2012.

CONTENTS

ABOUT THE AUTHORS	5
FOREWORD	6
AUTHORS' ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND SCENE SETTING	8
CONDUCTING THE REVIEW	10
CHAPTER 2: LEARNING WITH TECHNOLOGY	14
LEARNING FROM EXPERTS	15
LEARNING WITH OTHERS	19
LEARNING THROUGH MAKING	24
LEARNING THROUGH EXPLORING	28
LEARNING THROUGH INQUIRY	32
LEARNING THROUGH PRACTISING	36
LEARNING FROM ASSESSMENT	39
LEARNING IN AND ACROSS SETTINGS	43
CHAPTER 3: BRINGING LEARNING TOGETHER	47
LINKING LEARNING ACTIVITIES	48
LINKING AT THE INSTITUTIONAL LEVEL	50
CHAPTER 4: CONTEXT IS IMPORTANT	53
ENVIRONMENT	54
KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS	55
PEOPLE	55
TOOLS	56

CHAPTER 5: BRINGING RESEARCH INTO REALITY	59
LEARNING FROM THE EVIDENCE	59
KEY PRIORITIES FOR TECHNOLOGY IN LEARNING	61
	63
APPENDICES	65
APPENDIX 1: TABLE OF INFORMATION SOURCES	65
APPENDIX 2: THE ADAPTIVE COMPARATIVE JUDGEMENT (ACJ) METHOD	66
BIBLIOGRAPHY	73
ENDNOTES	86

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Professor Rosemary Luckin from the London Knowledge Lab has a background in Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence. Her research explores how to increase participation by teachers and learners in the design and use of technologies. This work has a particular focus upon understanding and modelling the impact of the wider context on the process of learning, as explained in her book: Re-Designing Learning Contexts (Routledge). Professor Luckin acts as a reviewer and advisor for UK research councils and International government funding agencies including Singapore, Greece, Cyprus, and Kuwait.

Dr Brett Bligh is a Research Fellow at the Learning Sciences Research Institute, University of Nottingham. His background is in Computer Science and Education; he has worked on the topic of Technology Enhanced Learning (TEL) for a decade. His current work focuses on how spaces can be designed to support learning, and on the classroom use of novel visual display technologies. He also has an interest in how TEL is constituted as an international, interdisciplinary research community. He was a member of the STELLAR EU Network of Excellence in TEL.

Dr Andrew Manches is a Research Fellow at the Institute of Education, London. His background is in Psychology and Education where he has over 15 years' experience: firstly as an Infant teacher, and then as a researcher. His work focuses on the role of physical interaction in early learning and the implications for new forms of digital interaction. He has recently been awarded an ESRC Future Research Leader grant, which he will carry out at the University of Edinburgh. He is also the founder and director of an educational toy start-up.

Dr Shaaron Ainsworth is an Associate Professor at the Learning Sciences Research Institute, University of Nottingham. Her background is in Psychology and Artificial Intelligence. She has over 20 years' experience in Technology Enhanced Learning and specifically researches visual and multimodal learning, educational games and collaborative technologies. She has published over 100 books, chapters and papers on these topics.

Professor Charles Crook is Professor of Education at the University of Nottingham. He has a doctorate in experimental psychology from Cambridge University, and held appointments at Brown, Strathclyde, Durham and Loughborough Universities. His main interest is in the psychology of human development, with special concern for young people's use of new technologies. He has published a number of papers developing a cultural psychological approach to education and developmental psychology.

Professor Richard Noss is co-director of the London Knowledge Lab, Institute of Education, University of London, and director of the Technology Enhanced Learning Research Programme, UK. He has directed some 20 research projects, focussing on a mix of technology-enhanced learning, mathematics, and - for the last ten or so years - workplace learning. He has authored and edited six books, and has published some 200 papers in these fields.

FOREWORD

From its beginning, Nesta has been involved in many projects related to education, including creating and spinning off FutureLab as a centre for innovation in uses of technology. More recently Nesta prepared the *Next Gen*. report with the computing and games industry in the UK which has persuaded the government to put computer science and coding at the heart of the school curriculum.

Through this past work, we have come to recognise an innovation deficit at the intersection of technology and education; students today inhabit a rich digital environment, but it is insufficiently utilised to support learning. Working with researchers at the London Knowledge Lab (LKL) and Learning Sciences Research Institute (LSRI), University of Nottingham, this report seeks to analyse the use of technologies for learning around the world and draw out lessons for innovation in the UK education systems.

The process of this report has involved input and guidance from many individuals. The researchers have consulted a wide variety of stakeholders and experts, who are gratefully acknowledged below. Internally, researchers have been supported by the enthusiasm of inquisitiveness of members within Nesta's Education, and Policy and Research teams. In particular Kathleen Stokes who managed the research, Tom Kenyon, Mark Griffiths, Amy Solder, Helen Drury, Jo Casebourne, and Jon Drori. Nesta's Investments and Communications teams have also provided invaluable support.

This report was initially commissioned to underpin our programme on education in a digital environment. However, as we go forward, we hope that it will continue to act as a tool for discussion and activity within and across the technology and education sectors, so that research, practice and industry can connect and innovate around a common language and imperative.

Nesta

6

AUTHORS' ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to acknowledge the considerable help provided by Matt Wingfield and Declan Lynch of TAG Developments, a division of Sherston Software Ltd, the members of Digital Education Brighton and the following individuals: Allison Allen, Richard Allen, Edward Baker, Dr Mireille Betrancourt, Anne Caborne, Kirsten Campbell-Howes, Dr Patricia Charlton, Dr Wilma Clark, Dr Brock Craft, Dr Crina Damsa, Patricia Davies, Charlie Davis, Prof. Ben du Boulay, Dr Tony Fisher, Terry Freedman, David Geelan, Tracey Gentle, Shuli Gilutz, Heather Govier, Dr Jacob Habgood, Elaine Haywood, Dr Katie Howland, Dr Ian Jones, Dr Marie Joubert, Michiel Klonhammer, Prof. Agnes Kukulska-Hulme, David Miller, Zakir Mohmed, David Noble, James O'Toole, Simon Patton, Duncan Peberdy, Henry Playfoot, Dr Christine Redman, Prof. Mike Sharples, James Steel, Joshua Underwood, Jan van der Meij, Ted Walker, Jonathan Webb, and Dr Niall Winters.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND SCENE SETTING

With hundreds of millions of pounds spent on digital technology for education every year – from interactive whiteboards to the rise of one-to-one tablet computers – every new technology seems to offer unlimited promise to learning. Many sectors have benefitted immensely from harnessing innovative uses of technology. Cloud computing, mobile communications and Internet applications have changed the way manufacturing, finance, business services, the media and retailers operate. But key questions remain in education: has the range of technologies helped improve learners' experiences and the standards they achieve? Or is this investment just languishing as kit in the cupboard? And what more can decision makers, schools, teachers, parents and the technology industry do to ensure the full potential of innovative technology is exploited?

There is no doubt that digital technologies have had a profound impact upon the management of learning. Institutions can now recruit, register, monitor, and report on students with a new economy, efficiency, and (sometimes) creativity. Yet, evidence of digital technologies producing real transformation in learning and teaching remains elusive.

The education sector has invested heavily in digital technology; but this investment has not yet resulted in the radical improvements to learning experiences and educational attainment. In 2011, the *Review of Education Capital* found that maintained schools spent £487 million on ICT equipment and services in 2009-2010.¹ Since then, the education system has entered a state of flux with changes to the curriculum, shifts in funding, and increasing school autonomy.

While ring-fenced funding for ICT equipment and services has since ceased, a survey of 1,317 schools in July 2012 by the British Educational Suppliers Association found they were assigning an increasing amount of their budget to technology. With greater freedom and enthusiasm towards technology in education, schools and teachers have become more discerning and are beginning to demand more evidence to justify their spending and strategies. This is both a challenge and an opportunity as it puts schools in greater charge of their spending and use of technology.

This report sets out where proof, promise and potential lie for technology in education. It then identifies the contextual factors and actions needed to ensure current and future opportunities for school children take full advantage of technology for learning.

Our starting point is that digital technologies do offer opportunities for innovation that can transform teaching and learning, and that our challenge is to identify the shape that these innovations take. To aid us in this task, we have rejected the lure of categorising innovations by the type of technology employed. The only answer to questions such as "Do games help

learning?" is to say, "It depends." Instead we argue that more progress comes from thinking about the types of learning activities that we know to be effective, such as practising key skills, and exploring the ways that technology can support and develop these effective learning activities in innovative ways.

Many research studies have addressed the impact of particular technological innovations, and many meta-analytic reviews have aggregated these findings. Typically, these synthesising reviews do find some evidence of positive impact. However, there are two important complicating factors that limit the strength of the claims that can be made.

Firstly, the evidence is drawn from a huge variety of learning contexts: the wide range of teacher experience and learner ability means that too often the impact identified is relatively modest in scale. Secondly, these findings are invariably drawn from evidence about how technology supports existing teaching and learning practices, rather than transforming those practices. What is clear is that no technology has an impact on learning in its own right; rather, its impact depends upon the way in which it is used. Accordingly, we have organised our review around effective learning themes:

- Learning from Experts
- Learning through Inquiry
- Learning with Others
- Learning through Making
- Learning through Exploring
- Learning from Assessment
- Learning in and across Settings

Learning through Practising

The eight learning themes are based upon an analysis of learners' actions and the way that they are resourced and structured.² Chapter 2 of this report discusses the evidence of innovation in each of these learning themes. Chapter 3 considers how the eight themes are related and how they can be linked by technology to produce a rich learning experience.

The context for learning must be taken into account if developers are to design effective technology and educators are to invest their time and money wisely. Chapter 4 looks at the learning context that shapes the impact of new technologies on learning. Learners and teachers have to draw upon a range of resources beyond the technology itself in order to make that technology work. It is important to understand both the role and the availability of these resources. We use the Ecology of Resources framework³ to categorise these other resources. This framework makes the broad distinction between four different types of resource: *People*: teachers, adults and peers; *Tools*: learning materials; *Environment*: the setting in which learning is taking place; and *Knowledge & Skills*: the expertise of teachers. The availability of each type of resource is constrained, or 'filtered', within a particular context. Some filters are potential barriers – the cost of a learning resource, for example. But filters can also be an important means of structuring learning – such as limiting access to an overwhelming selection of learning materials to help learners make sensible choices.

In Chapter 5 we identify the priorities for action if innovative and effective uses of technology in education are to arise.

CONDUCTING THE REVIEW

Searching for and reviewing evidence on technological innovation in education raises many challenges. On the one hand, academic sources such as research papers, meta-analyses, systematic reviews, and clearinghouse reports offer solid evidence but risk excluding innovations that are too new to have been subjected to rigorous research, or those that seek to innovate in hitherto unexplored areas. On the other hand, the grey literature of informal commentary, blogs, think tanks, and companies' reports may highlight innovations that deserve serious attention, but can lack solid evidence to match their claims. And all information suffers from a degree of bias, whether that is motivated by the need to boost product sales or driven by a competitive research culture.



Review Process

The research underpinning this report attempts to address these challenges. We have considered both the quantity and quality of innovations, evidence from formal and informal sources, and proven and promising practice. Through a tailored systematic review of academic sources over the last three years, we collected over 1,000 publications with broad geographic coverage (including Europe, America and Asia) and from multiple disciplines (including education, psychology and technology). From this pool we identified 124 research-led example cases of innovation with sound evidence. In addition, we included relevant reviews and meta-reviews published in the last ten years. Secondly, we reviewed an extensive range of informal literature, including personal blogs and teacher networks. From this material we identified a further 86 teacher-led example cases of innovation from an initial pool of over 300. These 210 cases form the basis of research for this report.

Throughout this review, innovations were evaluated according to the quality of their evidence. Evidence that was anecdotal, superficial, or lacking a clear analytical scheme, was considered to be of low quality, whereas well-designed, fit for purpose analysis that would be appropriate for the highest quality scientific publication was considered high quality.

In order to balance evidence with opinion, and draw upon the wisdom of the informed crowd, a representative sample of 150 innovations were selected from the total pool of 210 and scrutinised by a group of experts comprising teachers, researchers, company representatives and policymakers. In a comparative judgement exercise, the experts were asked to compare two innovations and simply decide which of them was better; each expert was asked to make approximately 30 comparisons. By seeking multiple views on these cases of innovation, we were able to develop a refined ranking of the innovations. The results from the ranking exercise were complemented by on-line correspondence, telephone conversations, and face-to-face meetings with teachers and developers. The ranking exercise provided a collective view of which innovations offer the greatest potential to advance teaching and learning, if they were to be widely adopted. Interested readers can find further details of the Adaptive Comparative Judgement (ACJ) method in Appendix 2.



CHAPTER 2: LEARNING WITH TECHNOLOGY

INTRODUCTION

In this Chapter we provide an overview of promising innovations in learning with technology. The Chapter is organised around the eight learning themes discussed in Chapter 1. We consider the type of learning that takes place within each theme; we then present examples of how technology can support those types of learning. We include a set of case studies that provide a snapshot of learning in action.

We highlight those innovations we believe offer the greatest potential, drawn from the 124 research and 86 teacher-led examples reviewed.

All the examples quoted are referenced in footnotes. A full list of the innovations ranked in the comparative judgement exercise along with additional resources from the report can be found online at

http://www.nesta.org.uk/assets/features/Decoding_Learning.

2.1 LEARNING FROM EXPERTS

The scope for independent learning has never been higher. There has been huge growth in the amount of information available to learners; and in technology that enables learners to access. structure and package that information. However, the role of teachers in supporting learners to convert information into knowledge should not be underestimated. There has been much technological innovation in the exposition of data; but much less in supporting dialogue between teachers and learners to help learners make the most of that data.





Mathematics Imagery Trainer

The Mathematical Imagery Trainer allows learners to develop their understanding of fractions and proportions through physical movement and dialogue. Using a screen and a handheld tracking device - like the Nintendo Wii controller - this tool tracks learners' movements and presents them as a proportion of a total range. As learners reach a preselected proportion, the screen turns from red to green. Rather than teachers giving explicit instructions about achieving different

proportions, children are asked to explain what they think is happening. In this way, the design provides a powerful tool to enhance discussion between the teacher and learner.

Developed by Dr Dor Abrahamson and his team at the Embodied Design Research Laboratory, University of California, Berkeley, the Mathematical Imagery Trainer has been tested with 11 and 12 year old children. (Abrahamson, et al. 2011)

Highlights

- The increasing wealth of online resources offers great potential for both teachers and learners; but places great demands on both to evaluate and filter the information on offer.
- Innovations in *Learning from Experts* have tended to focus on the exposition of information rather than fostering dialogue between teachers and learners.
- Digital technologies offer new ways of presenting information and ideas in a dynamic and interactive way. However learners may need the support of teachers to interpret those ideas and to convert that information into knowledge.
- New forms of representation (e.g. augmented objects) offer the potential to enrich the dialogue about information between teachers and learners.

Theories of learning emphasise the role of a more knowledgeable other, or expert, in guiding learners. This could be a peer, but is more usually a teacher.

Digital technology can support two kinds of interaction between learner and teacher. The first is the dialogue between learners and teachers. This is referred to as tutorial. A seminal paper by Benjamin Bloom suggested that one-to-one teaching is the most effective way to learn.⁴ He found that children who were taught individually performed significantly better than children who were taught in a conventional classroom setting. Technology can support dialogue between learner and teacher, particularly when they are not in the same location; or when they are unable to communicate with each other at the same time. Technology can enhance dialogue with visual aids, such an interactive whiteboard. Technology can even simulate the role of teacher, as seen in intelligent teaching systems.

The other form of interaction concerns the structuring and presentation of learning material. This can be described as *exposition*. There are a range of digital resources that structure and package learning material from podcasts to e-books to videos on YouTube. Digital technologies also offer new ways of presenting information and ideas in a dynamic and interactive way. These resources are accessible and can be engaging; however the learner's role can often be passive. Learners may need the support of teachers to interpret those ideas and to convert that information into knowledge.

Learning through tutorial and exposition represent traditional approaches to teaching and remain at the heart of much classroom practice. They influenced much of the early work on educational technology, for example the development of Intelligent Tutoring Systems. Today they underpin prominent teacher approaches such as the use of video lectures by Khan Academy.⁵ We found many examples of technology building on existing teaching practice, rather than creating new, innovative practices. It is open to question whether simply building on traditional approaches will improve dialogue between learners and teachers in a way that will ultimately improve learning.

A relatively high proportion of research innovations (23) focused on learning from experts, with support for exposition more prevalent than support for tutorial dialogues. Most involved primary and secondary students in the classroom, although several examples considered support for older learners accessing information online. It is also interesting to note how the growth of online courses may extend to younger learners, as exemplified by the American online learning provider, K12.⁶ Digital tools ranged from hardware such as interactive whiteboards⁷ and mobile devices⁸ to visual and audio presentation tools

including animations⁹ and podcasts.¹⁰ Bespoke tools included a robotic tutor¹¹ and a desk lantern used to communicate learners' progress on tasks to the teacher.¹²

There were 11 teacher-led examples of innovation under this theme; only two involved support for tutorial dialogue.¹³ Examples involved primary and secondary students; and most looked at the use of online resources (such as videos¹⁴ or other 'free' online tools¹⁵) in the classroom. Non-internet based examples included a gesture-recognition console and game (Kinect Sports)¹⁶ used to provide an engaging context for secondary students working on mathematical problems, such as calculating average speeds. One novel example linked digital information to physical objects using radio-frequency identification (RFID) technology.¹⁷

Several research papers illustrated how digital technology offers new ways of presenting ideas, through animations,¹⁸ video lectures¹⁹ or podcasts.²⁰ Research suggests that the benefits of using such technology depend on a range of factors such as the cognition, perception, attitudes and motivations of learners.²¹ One example demonstrated how devices can expand access to information in the classroom.²² This simple, yet effective, project in a UK university used multiple screens to display information over the walls of a classroom to promote discussion. The teacher was able to stimulate debate by presenting a particular argument about materials on display (such as images of historical artefacts) while providing sufficient information around the walls for students to construct alternative explanations.

Two examples show how a simple device like the interactive whiteboard (IWB) can be used effectively to support dialogue between the teacher and learners.²³ Drawing on case studies across the UK, Hennessy explores how the IWB can support student learning through classroom conversation. Teachers can use IWBs more effectively by linking them to digital resources which can be archived and revisited later. This supports the progression of dialogue over time, across settings, and even across groups of learners. Although they may no longer be considered particularly innovative, IWBs are now used in many UK schools. It is therefore clearly timely and useful to find out how best they be used in innovative ways to support learning.

We also found digital technology being used by learners to access information outside of the classroom. In one particular example local students and adults used mobile devices to study environmental issues while on a guided tour of a floodplain conservation site along the Rhine River.²⁴ However, learners may need support in navigating information. Greene et al.²⁵ show the benefits of teachers supporting pupils with planning skills before they accessed history content from a hypermedia²⁶ learning environment. Several examples also looked at blended learning approaches. One study of a learning management system emphasised the importance of including opportunities for constructive dialogue and interactive learning activities.²⁷ In this regard, technology may support learning by providing a more direct tutorial role. This was also demonstrated in a study of technology that uses sketch recognition and corrective feedback to assist learners drawing human faces.²⁸

The examples also showed how technology can be used to provide learners with social support. One social recommender system supported learners with their programming by suggesting solutions previously applied by other learners.²⁹ Technology is also opening the way for robotic tutors.³⁰ One such example was Dr Martin Saerbeck's development of a robotic tutor to provide support to learners who are learning a new language. The tutor provides prompts about use of vocabulary. The robot is expressive and can model



he iCAT robotic tutor for language learning

faths Doctor. Photographs used with permissic



its interaction with the learner based on the learner's language capabilities. This enables the robot to gradually reduce support and promote independence. While not yet widespread, this shows how technology can increase tutorial dialogue in radically new ways.

Several teacher-led examples involved the use of multimedia content for learners, such as stop-start animations to discuss story sequencing³¹ and game consoles to present mathematics problems.³² The resources used were predominately online, although one innovation presented at an UnTeachMeet event³³ used near field communication (NFC)³⁴ so teachers (and learners) could link digital information to physical objects.³⁵ The Maths Doctor³⁶ exemplified how technology can support communication between teachers and learners over a distance. Based in Brighton, UK, this online one-to-one tuition service connects highly qualified

teachers with learners through videoconferencing software (such as Skype) and tablet devices. Tutors can remotely help their secondary students tackle maths problems in conversation while simultaneously writing and attempting equations on screen. These sessions are also recorded so that students can also go back and review the dialogue afterwards.

One of the most highly rated innovations³⁷ supported exposition using the free website and collaborative project, Solar Stormwatch.³⁸ Created by the Royal Observatory Greenwich, UK, the site provides real-life science information and encourages learners to contribute to the project by helping to identify solar storms. Any information learners gather can be fed into the project by creating an account on the site. Learners can be engaged in topical science issues by being able to: contribute directly to the project; draw on the wealth of information available on the project site; and connect with experts in the field.

Clearly, online technology offers the potential to expand the dialogue between teachers and learners. However, a critical eye needs to be cast over the quality of online materials and any costs associated with accessing those materials, either direct (subscription) or indirect (advertising, data). The development of good quality material requires collaboration between developers, domain experts, teachers, and learners. Finally, as with all online content, it is important to consider whether learners have access to devices, and whether those devices have an adequate connection speed.

2.2 LEARNING WITH OTHERS

There is considerable enthusiasm and commitment to developing innovative approaches that support learning with others. But good ideas developed in academic research are not yet filtering through to the classroom. More could be done to raise teachers' awareness of tools that support learning with others. We would particularly welcome more widespread use of tools that enable learners to capture the progress of an episode of learning with others. Priority should also be given to developing tools that allow teachers to organise and manage episodes of joint learning.





In Austria, the NiCE Discussion Room is a space that supports social learning. This innovation illustrates how the design of both tools and space can be coordinated to create a versatile environment for social learning to create a kind of digital ecology for learning with others. Learners can share learning resources, thoughts and ideas, thereby supporting each other to develop knowledge collectively.

Sharing can be done

through different media (e.g. paper and screen) whose contents may be shared or concealed as appropriate during the activity. Emerging knowledge may be captured, annotated, edited, archived and made public – all using the same technical infrastructure. The system provides a versatile single space for socially-organised learning; it emulates workplace conditions that demand brainstorming and team thinking. (Halle, et al. 2010)

Highlights

- There are four social dimensions to *Learning with Others*, each of which can be supported by digital technology:
 - The *collaborative* dimension requires tools that help learners develop mutual understanding.
 - The *networked* dimension requires tools that help learners interact.
 - The *participative* dimension requires tools that help learners to develop a strong community of knowledge.
 - The *performative* dimension requires tools that allow the outcomes of collaborative learning to be shared with others.
- There are three particularly promising areas for development: *representational* tools that enable the activities taking place to be presented to the learners; *scaffolding tools* that provide a structure for learning with others; and *communication* tools that support learners working at a distance from each other to collaborate.

Much of our knowledge arises from social interaction. Whether we learn, and what we learn, depends upon our relationships with others. Sometimes these relationships will be the classic ones of teachers interacting with learners. But they can also involve learners interacting with other learners. Indeed, the role of teachers may be shifting away from managing a teacher-learner dynamic towards coordinating peer learning. Technology can support such a shift. In this section, we consider how.



Biological Sciences 64 pilot classroom, University of Minnesota

Learning with others requires collaboration - this involves learners coming to a mutual agreement or shared understanding in order to solve a problem. Technology can influence the way in which learners collaborate. We suggest there are four distinct, but linked dimensions of learning with others.

First, the *collaborative* dimension refers to learners developing knowledge through mutual interest and understanding. Second, the *networked* dimension refers to the way in which learners

organise themselves, especially where they contact each other only intermittently (such as through an online forum). Third, *participation* refers to groups of learners developing a community of knowledge through shared understanding and practice. Finally, the *performative* dimension involves the dissemination of the knowledge gained through learning with others. Learning with Others was the most frequently considered type of learning in the examples of innovation we reviewed. While the research examples focussed on the collaborative dimension, the teacher-based examples of innovation focussed more on the participative and networked dimensions of learning with others. Few examples looked at the performative dimension - digital resources that might create audiences for the outputs of joint learning are somewhat neglected.

The most highly rated example of innovation in this theme involved pupils in primary school using an online writing tool to build a story collaboratively. BoomWriter is a free "competitive writing platform"³⁹ that helps engage learners by combining creative writing with social media technology. Learners work together to build a story set up by the teacher. Decisions are taken through blind peer evaluation and voting. Another highly rated research example used online forums to structure learners' discussions. Learners took on a particular role in a scenario. The underlying principle is that structuring discussions in this way can promote critical thinking and higher levels of learning.⁴⁰



Four teacher-based examples of innovation were also very highly rated. Innovations in learning with others through networks were more frequently cited by teachers and particularly highly rated by the expert panel. Other highly ranked innovations in this theme were those that enabled learners to interact;⁴¹ actively shaped joint activity within some problem solving space; facilitated exchange within learner networks;42 and opened novel channels of communication between learners.43

The research evidence base points to three particularly promising areas for development:

1. Representational tools: tools that enable the activities taking place, or the achievements arising from those activities to be represented. Examples included: tools for integrating representations made using different media;⁴⁴ technologyenhanced spaces for acting;⁴⁵ tools for capturing and sharing on-going achievements;⁴⁶ and tools that represented either the evolving content⁴⁷ or learners' progress⁴⁸ during an episode of learning with others. The tools used ranged from digital pens and IWBs to more elaborate equipment such as the NiCE Discussion Room (see above). In another example, the concept mapping tool GroupScribbles - software that integrates digital scribbling, sketching and posting - was used on a tablet device to increase collaboration between secondary students in Singapore. To accomplish this, a series of activities were co-designed by researchers and teachers to fit within the curriculum, such as having groups simultaneously co-author a concept map. These activities helped students to become more involved in learning and to communicate better with one another.49

- 2. Scaffolding tools: tools that provide a structure for learning with others. These tools enable learners to manage shared tasks by various kinds of scripting⁵⁰ or prompting.⁵¹ One such example is the NumberNet tool, used to promote collaboration within and between groups in maths classes in Durham, UK. While maths classes are often focused on individual instruction, this project organised a three-stage activity in order to promote greater flexibility among learners when using maths. To accomplish this, multiple group activities were set up on table top computers across a classroom. Learners were encouraged to participate and rotate across these activities before being called back for a final sorting and structuring activity.
- 3. Communication tools: a small number of examples demonstrated the benefit of technology-supported collaboration among learners who were working at a distance.⁵² In one example, a multi-user problem solving game was developed to meet increasing demand for informal, collaborative learning in different environments. The project was sparked by a common art exhibition held between two museums in Barcelona and Figueres, Spain. Using a videoconferencing system and multi-touch interactive surface, groups of learners within and across each museum were able to simultaneously explore the exhibitions. One study found that text messaging among pupils, particularly when they began to use abbreviations or 'textisms', was linked to improved literacy and spelling in 9 and 10 year-olds. While it is unlikely that all English classes will be, or should be, conducted in the form of text message conversations, such findings do challenge us to rethink the learning value of certain types of communication activities commonly found outside the classroom (like text messaging).



NumberNet being used to support group activities in maths

Examples from teachers tended to identify some distinctive, yet familiar, digital resources which had been previously used to support a successful session of learner collaboration. Teachers were also less likely to consider new tools for enhancing networked exchange, again identifying familiar applications like Ning or Google messenger as means of stimulating coordination in learning at a distance or at different times. The consequences of such networking tend to feed into the participative and performative interaction categories.

Teachers are certainly enthusiastic about innovation in social learning. However, we believe some of the most innovative practice in *Learning with Others* remains relatively neglected by teachers. In short, the research ideas are not yet filtering through to the classroom. More could be done to raise awareness among teachers of new tools that support learning with others.

We would particularly welcome the more widespread use of tools that capture the progress of an episode of learning with others. These would offer visual records of the

progress of a task – designs are likely to be specific to task structures. Representations of both the content and progress of such episodes will be of great value to learners, particularly in terms of the stimulating self-awareness about learning activities. They will also be of value to teachers who can adapt their feedback with the greater insight that such representations can provide.

Developing learning with others will often present a challenge of orchestration to the teacher. We have distinguished between *collaborative, networked, performative* and *participative* dimensions of learning with others. It may be unusual for a single tool to support all of these dimensions. Yet any episode of learning with others will benefit if it is both participative (i.e., it helps build a learning community) and performative (i.e., it helps create audiences for what is achieved). This often requires the teacher to actively manage a variety of tools; some of the most promising innovations we have reviewed have the capacity to orchestrate learning with others (see the case study above for an example).

2.3 LEARNING THROUGH MAKING

One the best ways people can learn is by making and sharing things. There is great enthusiasm for making with digital tools, complemented by a general resurgence in crafts and making. There are growing opportunities for people to integrate physical construction with coding and hacking technology. Innovations in technology-supported learning through making do show great potential. But this potential can only be fulfilled if those required to use that technology are also supported.



Innovation Types
Teacher-Led Research



and data aggregator

At the London Knowledge Lab, UK, computer science students on a summer internship developed a system to collect environmental data, such as temperature and light levels, on school premises. The environmental sensor unit reported its data to an online data aggregator [cosm.com]. Data was subsequently presented and accessed through a bespoke mobile phone app. This innovation demonstrates how students can put their thinking to action and

create remarkable products using affordable and accessible technology through their own initiative. (http://acssummerapp.webr.ly/blog/)

Highlights

- The success of *Learning through Making* rests on two principles: first, learners must construct their own understanding; they must create something they can share with others.
- Digital technology can bring the idea of constructionism alive. Learners can construct anything in their imagination; and they can then share, discuss, reflect upon and, ultimately, learn about that construction.
- Teacher-led examples of innovation frequently cited the motivational aspect and the benefits of producing tangible, 'real world' outcomes of learning through making.
- The success of learning through making depends on the appropriate use of digital tools in suitable environments.
- A review of the use of ICT to support creative and critical thinking in formal education highlighted the key role played by teachers in successful implementation.

One the best ways people can learn is by making and sharing things.

The idea of constructionism was spearheaded by Professor Seymour Papert, an MIT mathematician and computer scientist.⁵³ Constructionism rests on two main principles: that learners construct their own understanding as they make something, rather than receiving it passively from others; and that this is most effective when they make something they can share.

Digital technology can bring the idea of constructionism alive. Learners can construct anything in their imagination; and they can then share, discuss, reflect upon and, ultimately, to learn about that construction.

Constructionism dates back to developments in computer programming in the late 1960s. The advent of the Logo programming language enabled those with little prior knowledge of programming to start developing programs by using the *turtle*, a programmable screen object or robot. Since those early days, constructionism has provided the framework for a fertile strand of learning research and development, including MIT's Scratch programming language and online community,⁵⁴ the "multi-agent programmable modelling environment" NetLogo,⁵⁵ and the musical "programming language and environment" Impromptu.⁵⁶

The current enthusiasm for making with digital tools is high; and is complemented by a general resurgence in craft and making. There are growing opportunities for people to integrate physical construction with coding and hacking technology through events and resources such as O'Reilly's Maker Faires,⁵⁷ and Make Magazine.⁵⁸ But this remains a relatively immature area.

Almost a quarter of all the teacher-led examples we reviewed concerned learning through making. In contrast, there were few research examples, suggesting this is a rising trend in practice that has not yet been subjected to a great deal of research. Examples were found across all levels of education and in a variety of formal and informal settings. They were particularly prevalent in non-traditional subjects. Research examples covered technology not traditionally found in classrooms, including robots and collaborative authoring tools. The subject areas varied from energy saving and the environment, through to computer game development and argumentation.

A number of examples illustrate how technology can help learners construct notes and other materials to improve their learning. Researchers in the University of North Carolina, US, developed the Interactive Shared Education Environment (ISEE)⁵⁹ to improve learning while watching videos. ISEE combines a video player and text chat box. While watching videos, learners simultaneously annotated and made notes in a separate box which was automatically connected to the video through hyperlinked timestamps called Smartlinks. Learners took fewer notes and focussed on video content rather than video controls when using ISEE. Another example showed how electronic outlining tools could improve the guality of learners' writing. Learners were able to use outlining tools with little instruction; however, to make the most of the tools, they did require specific instruction on text planning.⁶⁰ Finally, the EU-funded MuseumScouts project worked with creative and cultural institutions to develop learner-centred activities within those institutions. Learners designed short, interactive presentations using collaborative authoring tools, such as Evolution, based on the information they collected during visits.⁶¹



Teacher-led examples frequently cited the motivational aspect of learning through making. These included an interesting approach involving Scratch - a children's' programming language and online community developed by MIT. The aim was to motivate primary-aged pupils to start programming by creating coded animations in informal afterschool clubs.⁶² Other examples include the use of blogging and storytelling through Web 2.0 applications. One project used digital story telling tool ZooBurst to create 3D pop-up books with

augmented reality features. By using exciting effects and creating a product that could be shared online, this project was able to engage many learners who were less enthusiastic about story writing. Similarly, learners have used domo.goanimate.com to create their own short cartoon-style animations,⁶³ while others have used Storybird.com to write stories that were published in e-book format. Crucially, both applications provide embed codes that allow learners' work to be assembled, published and shared on blogging platforms, like WordPress.org.

The most highly rated teacher-led example also focussed on the motivational aspect of learning through making. In this case, secondary students used Aris - an open-platform for creating geo-location games, tours and interactive stories - to design and create quest games with mobile phones and printed QR codes⁶⁴ around the school. Learners were divided into teams, and team members were given defined roles, such as programmers, media collectors, and narrative writers. After creating their storyline, teams designed seven guests and connected them to different locations across their schools using QR codes, which offered clues such as: "Visit both the boys and girls toilets. Then find the toilet and collect toilet paper code. Find the toilet and collect soap code. Then head towards the canteen..."⁶⁵ Over the course of five months, learners had successfully designed, tested and debugged their games.

BirdBrain Technologies. Photographs used with permission.

Robotics Kit



Other promising teacher-led examples also highlighted the positive effect on learners when they are able to produce tangible outputs with 'real word' applications. Designed in the CREATE Lab at Carnegie Mellon University's Robotics Institute, HummingBird Kits are intended to engage secondary students, particularly girls, in programming by creating artistic, physical designs.⁶⁶ Unlike other robotics kits, which provide the materials to make a specific type of robot, the HummingBird kit can be combined with available craft materials to create unique robots based on the learner's interests. Learners were inspired by the ease of creating more artistic and unconventional programming applications, such as animated scenes to accompany a poem.⁶⁷

Two other noteworthy examples of learners producing tangible outputs involve weeklong workshops. In the first, learners develop their programming skills by designing digital

products, such as mobile apps, alongside local businesses and volunteers.⁶⁸ The 'On the Move' project,⁶⁹ run by NYU-Poly and MakerBot Industries in Brooklyn, New York, US, provides 10–13 year old learners with a hands-on introduction to 3D printing through a weeklong workshop. Learners gain experience designing and printing objects such as physical gears.

Few examples of innovation in learning through making have been subjected to rigorous academic research; those that have were not seen as particularly promising by the expert panel – the most promising example among the research cases was a project that used computer game development to foster the creative perceptions of secondary students.⁷⁰ Meanwhile, there were many teacher-led examples that, while not evidenced, were regarded as highly promising by the expert panel.

Innovations in technology-supported learning through making do show great potential. But this potential can only be fulfilled if those required to use that technology are also supported. Many of the examples we reviewed required some degree of teacher support. The authors of a study into the use of ICT to support the teaching of algebra found some evidence for success, but drew attention to the vital role that teachers played in helping learners to use technology critically, link multiple representations, and build the bridge between individual learners' constructions and whole class understanding.⁷¹ Another review on the use of ICT to support creative and critical thinking in formal education also highlighted the key role played by teachers in successful implementation.⁷²

2.4 LEARNING THROUGH EXPLORING

Learners have always browsed information to gain new knowledge. However, in the digital age information is abundant, and can even be overwhelming. Learners need to develop strategies and skills to find and filter the information they need. Technology provides many new opportunities to support learners to develop those strategies and skills, through online multimedia environments, 3D simulations and information visualisations, or technology-augmented physical spaces. However, we found few examples of innovation in this theme.



Queensland University of Technology. Photographs used with perm



Electronic Blocks are physical building blocks that allow young pupils to begin exploring elements of computer programming and algorithmic concepts. The blocks are embedded with electrical components that allow them to do different things: sensor blocks can see, hear or sense touch; action blocks can produce light, sound, or move; and logic blocks link sensors and actions while adding conditions or commands. Learners can follow their curiosity and

combine blocks during extended tasks that resemble free play. As they make their own discoveries about how the different blocks can be combined, they develop their understanding of programming.

These blocks were developed by Dr Peta Wyeth as part of her doctoral thesis at Queensland University, Australia. (Wyeth, 2008)

Highlights

- Learning through Exploring rests on two principles: firstly, learners are given freedom to act; secondly, they need to regulate their own actions, which is itself an important skill for learning.
- Digital tools can provide new and engaging ways to explore information, and offer new ways to structure the environment that learners explore.
- The dearth of current research suggests technology-supported exploration is underused and undervalued within educational settings.
- The evidence in the few examples found was of a high quality and suggests that technology does offer the potential to enhance learning through exploration.

Learning through Exploring in this report includes work in which learners search or browse information, or engage in playful, game-like interactions. Exploring can be opportunistic or more structured. Learners may also explore playfully, by experimenting with learning materials in a way they feel is enjoyable.

In some instances, *Learning through Exploring* can be spontaneous – browsing the web for more information about a news item or researching a topic of interest such as a hobby. It can also be deliberately engineered by a teacher, parent, colleague or peer – suggesting a topic of interest, providing some materials to work with or even goals that the learner can work towards. But *Learning through Exploring* is always self-regulated.⁷³ The learner chooses how and where to explore.

Learners have always browsed information to gain new knowledge. However, in the digital age information is abundant, and can be overwhelming. Learners need to develop strategies to find and filter the information they need. Search engines and recommender systems may be useful in shaping exploration. But if learners do not use such tools well, they can narrow the scope of their exploration too much. It must also be recognised that serendipitous discovery is an important aspect of exploring.

New technology such as online multimedia environments, 3D simulations and information visualisations, or augmented physical spaces provide many new opportunities to enhance learning through exploring. However, we found few examples of innovation in this theme – just ten research examples and five teacher-based examples.

The research examples covered all stages of education and a variety of subjects from mathematics to politics. They tended to involve the use of technology not traditionally found in classrooms, including robots, information visualisation tools and large multi-touch displays. All the teacher-led examples were drawn from primary-level classroom settings, although three also included an aspect of learning in home or community settings.

Given the dearth of examples, learning through exploring appears to be underused and undervalued within educational settings. This is possibly because it is difficult to link exploration – whether it is formal or informal, structured or unstructured, spontaneous or directed – to formal learning objectives. However, the limited evidence available suggests that technology offers great potential to support learning through exploration.

A highly illustrative example of innovation of this theme with sound evidence involved the use of digitally augmented plastic blocks to allow children to explore basic computer programming⁷⁴ (described above).



Three research examples demonstrated the potential benefits of tools that tailor information in online or computer-based environments. The first of these is Opinion Space,⁷⁵ developed at the University of California, Berkeley, US. Opinion Space is a social media technology that selforganises debates into an evolving map that represents trends, patterns, and insights while drawing out emerging key

arguments, positions and ideas.⁷⁶ Learners discussed politics in the comments section of an online blog connected to Opinion Space, which automatically highlighted and presented those comments found most useful by other learners. Learners were more engaged and exhibited greater respect for the blogs and comments they read, compared to regular blog comments which appear in chronological order. Furthermore, learners were encouraged to interact with more of the comments they read and to argue their points of view in constructive ways.

The second example showed how learners can improve their Internet search skills when presented with a graphical timeline of the progress of other learners undertaking similar tasks.⁷⁷ Learners were able to see what information other people had uncovered and so received implicit guidance on search strategies. While this comparison helped point learners in the right direction, it was not intended to provide answers or approaches to copy; instead, learners were required to build on the information present to develop a unique search strategy related to their own goals.

The third example demonstrated how interactive visualisation tools can support the teaching of mathematical concepts.⁷⁸ Researchers from The University of Western Ontario, Canada, worked with a diverse group of learners, who explored the mathematical properties of shapes by using tools to move them around and arrange them in patterns. They found that such tools can be effective in supporting learners, but that they need to be flexible to accommodate different learner needs. Interestingly, the researchers reported that (some) learners found the use of the tool addictive.

Another example showed the potential for technology to support exploration in a public setting. A large, multi-touch installation featuring layers of information, including 3D worlds, was used to provide access to science content.⁷⁹ Multiple learners simultaneously navigated different 'layers' of information in public, leaving their own annotations for others and discussing the issues raised with other learners. The project demonstrated how an environment can be structured so as to gradually 'unfold', and how browsing for information can be a social activity - particularly if the technology provides a space where media can be shared.



Although these examples presented strong evidence of the effectiveness of technologyenabled learning through exploring, they were not rated highly by our expert panel.

There were also few teacher-led examples of innovation in this theme; and those few were not rated highly by our expert panel. The most highly rated example was the Hole-in-the-Wall⁸⁰ – a project that placed computers in a public place to encourage

unsupervised learning by exploring the Internet. The project began in 1999 when Professor Sugata Mitra placed a free computer for public use in a hole in the wall separating his university and the neighbouring slum in New Delhi. In the absence of teachers, learners were motivated to teach themselves and one another how to use the computer so they could explore new information. Over time, learners became computer literate and even began to learn other languages, like English, on their own. The impact of this model has been subjected to widespread discussion and research. Ultimately, it shows the immense potential that technology offers to promote learning through exploring – if learners are given time and access to the necessary resources.

2.5 LEARNING THROUGH INQUIRY

Inquiry-based learning involves exploring the natural or material world by "asking questions, making discoveries, and rigorously testing those discoveries in the search for new understanding". Technology can be used to organise inquiry that might otherwise be difficult to accomplish, to change how learners look at problem-solving, and to connect learners' inquiries to real world scenarios. There is a great deal of research and teacherled innovation that provides good evidence of promise for technologysupported inquiry.







Developed at the University of Illinois at Chicago, RoomQuake is a simulation where learners pretend that their classroom is an active seismic field, and that a series of earthquakes is expected over the course of several weeks within that field.

Over six weeks, learners experience simulated earthquakes using a thin layer of technology consisting of audio subwoofers and fixed

position PDAs within the room that simulate seismographs. Learners actively participate, using calibrated tape measures and mathematical trilateration to find earthquake epicentres, and building representations of seismic events. Learners discover underlying rules, develop general skills such as plotting and interpreting graphs and increase their subject-specific knowledge. (Moher, et al. 2005)

Highlights

- Inquiry-based learning is seen as one way of enabling learners to think critically and participate in evidence-based debates.
- Enthusiasm for technology-supported inquiry is high.
- The most highly rated innovation of all involved an online portal that engaged secondary and higher education students in creative challenges set by industry. The major appeal of this project was its ability to connect learning with real-life, industry-based demands.
- A number of high quality examples illustrate the potential of technology to support learning through inquiry in a wide variety of settings, across a range of subjects and with different types of learners.

Successful learners need to be able understand and participate within complex, evidencebased debates. Inquiry-based learning is seen as one way of enabling learners to think critically and participate in such debates.⁸¹ Unlike the open-endedness of *Learning through Exploring*, inquiry-based learning is structured towards an end where something is found, uncovered, or discovered. The US National Science Foundation suggests that inquiry learning "involves a *process of exploring* the natural or material world [...] that leads to asking questions, making discoveries, and rigorously testing those discoveries in the search for new understanding."⁸² Learners build on their own curiosity through structured actions.⁸³ *Learning through Inquiry* includes learning with *simulation, case-based learning*, *problem-focussed learning* and *scripted inquiry*.



Personal Inquiry Project

The degree to which learners' inquiries are structured varies, as does the degree to which learners are made aware of the structure. For example, learners may be able to manipulate a simulated system without necessarily being aware of its underlying structure. In the Savannah project⁸⁴ learners were supported by a mobile game to act as lions in a grassland simulation. Through this experience, learners uncovered the rules of the savannah while also improving

their understanding of animal behaviour. In *case-based* and *problem-focussed* learning, structure is provided by particular tasks' content, with the aim of helping learners discover how their knowledge fits within a wider academic subject. In *scripted inquiry*, the steps that learners need to undertake are made explicit. In the Personal Inquiry project,⁸⁵ learners used netbook computers with software support to conduct scientific inquiries in different contexts such as classrooms, field trips, and the home. The technology enabled learners to carry out a variety of scientific investigations of personal relevance; one group of learners focussed on healthy eating, for example. The support and direction from the software was useful in alerting learners to, and helping them to meet, the challenges of scientific investigation.

Technology can be used to organise inquiry that might otherwise be difficult to accomplish, to change how learners look at problem solving, and to connect learners' inquiries to 'real world' scenarios.

We found 24 research examples of innovation in *Learning through Inquiry*. They spanned all stages of education. Several involved technology not traditionally found in classrooms, including augmented reality (AR) visualisations, large display environments and motion sensing tools. They usually involved teaching of STEM subjects such as physics, plant science, mathematics, and engineering; though other examples covered English language and architecture.

There were few (six) teacher-led examples in this theme. All were based in primary or secondary-level classrooms; one included an aspect of learning at home. Subjects covered included history, citizenship, antisocial behaviour, business and the creative arts.

Most of the teacher-led examples showed great potential. The most highly rated innovation of all was the I am Creative online portal that engaged secondary and higher education learners in creative challenges set by industry.⁸⁶ The major appeal of this project was its ability to connect learning with rea-life, industry demands, such as designing an advert. It is expected that participating industrial partners will provide judges to examine learners' submissions. However, rather than fundamentally change the learning process, this project introduces industry-based challenges to a broader range of learners. Nevertheless, its popularity among experts suggests that the project provides a model that appeals to teachers, industry and learners alike; and is one that is worth replicating in other settings.

Three of the other five teacher-led examples were also highly rated by our experts. They were: a project providing multimedia materials for mathematics problem-solving based on everyday problems;⁸⁷ an educational game suite, iCivics, that uses simulations to help secondary students improve their knowledge of US political topics such as governmental structure, legal rights and the constitution;⁸⁸ and Literacy Shed, a database of tagged short films and images that aims to engage secondary students with themes such as emotions in literacy.⁸⁹

The research examples received more mixed ratings. However, a number of highly rated examples showed how technology has the potential to support inquiry in a wide variety of contexts. The LECGO tool was developed to motivate learners and promote participation in drawing activities by providing computer-based, problem-driven activities and appropriate feedback.⁹⁰ Learners using LECGO made greater learning gains compared to learning using paper and pencil or typical programming environments. Another promising example involved learners at university using game-based tools to tackle complex, open-ended problems, such as designing a city.⁹¹ The planetarium simulation software, Starry Night, was used to help primary-aged pupils develop their understanding of moon phases.⁹² The software enabled learners to explore information about space, which helped them to better understand a relatively abstract concept. Finally, the EU-based Science Created By You project, allowed secondary students to work individually and collaboratively to solve socio-scientific questions in a virtual environment.⁹³

Two examples focussed on learning through simulation. The first involved the use of an online simulation tool, ControlWeb, in a distance-learning control engineering course.⁹⁴ Students' online activity and performance was monitored by the learning management system and a fuzzy logic controller.⁹⁵ This enabled learners' actions to be regulated and helped learners to regulate their own workload. This example demonstrated how learners

can be supported to manage their own time and how their motivation can be maintained by communicating with other learners. The second involved the use of the Starry Night planetarium simulation (see above). A review of the simulation highlighted the importance of predictability and patterns as learners move through different phases of learning – from browsing to reflection. Both of these examples highlighted the time required to gain the skills to usefully manipulate the simulation.

One problem-focussed example involved using a set of 26 bespoke cards containing computing-related concepts to help learners develop programming skills.⁹⁶ The cards are a simple tool that supports problem-focussed thinking by illustrating the implications of particular computing concepts in a concrete way. Learners undertook sorting tasks using the cards – acting out a sorting algorithm and considering the cards' meanings – before engaging in open sorting tasks where they developed their own sort criteria and categories. The process was supported by semi-structured discussion with a teacher.

Another interesting research example focussed on supporting scripted inquiry in museums using interactive digital augmentations. Be The Path was designed to illustrate principles of electrical conductivity. Projection technologies directed learners to ask particular questions.⁹⁷ The authors suggest their approach could be deployed in other, informal learning settings.

2.6 LEARNING THROUGH PRACTISING

Whatever is being learned, practice makes perfect. There is a long history of technology being used to support learners practising their skills; but it is an activity where innovation is limited. The most effective use of technology enables learners to practise their skills and knowledge using a variety of multi-modal representations and interactions. Where technology is effectively used well to support practice, it does not simply sugar-coat uninspiring or unchallenging activities.





Zombie Division

Zombie Division is a game designed to help children aged eight to eleven to practise their multiplication and division. They divide skeletons wearing numbers (such as 18) with mathematical weapons (such as 3). Research revealed that successful educational games do not simply provide an opportunity for learners to practise. Instead games that integrate the knowledge and skills to be learnt directly into the structure of the game activity are both more fun for children to play and more effective than those where the game is used as motivation but without connection

to the learning content. Zombie Division illustrates how games can be used to implement challenging practice in a motivating form and whose success is based on the integration of learning objectives and game design. (http://zombiedivision.co.uk/)

Highlights

- Practising their skills enables learners to build a solid foundation of knowledge that can then be used in other contexts.
- The use of technology to support practise is rarely seen to be innovative; but promising developments include the use of rich multimodal environments that can create challenging problems and provide appropriate feedback.
- Games are often used as a means of encouraging learners to practise. However, the more highly-ranked examples with our expert panel did not simply use games to disguise an otherwise dull period of practice. They also provided learners with interesting and challenging problems; and with feedback to help learners develop new insights.

Whatever is being learned, practice makes perfect. Practising enables learners to build a solid foundation of knowledge that can then be used in other contexts – such as solving a more difficult mathematical problem, or taking part in conversation in a foreign language.

Practice has a long history in learning; and technology has played a key role in supporting practice. Practice was first systematically studied by Thorndike in 1898. His law of exercise states that practice strengthens connections (and without practice those connections become weakened). Thorndike applied this law to spelling and arithmetic.⁹⁸ By 1958 Skinner had developed Teaching Machines which were designed for learners to practice their skills through programmed instruction. The approach became so widespread that, until recently, most educational technology was predominantly used for drill and practice.

Practice still underpins some current theories of learning, particularly where practice till fluency is seen as key to becoming an expert. Learning by practising for examinations has also had a significant influence on education policy and practice.

However, learning by practising is no longer at the cutting edge of learning theory. While commercial products and services using technology to support practising are still in abundance, we found few examples of innovation in this theme – just ten research examples and eight teacher-led examples. They spanned all stages of education, but were predominantly found in traditional subjects (languages and mathematics). They covered all types of settings, including learning in the workplace, home and museum. They typically involved the use of multimedia technology or games, such as the Wii.

As well as being relatively scarce, the examples were not highly rated by our experts. Only two research examples were ranked in the top half of all the innovations reviewed. The first involved learners in a German kindergarten comparing the magnitude of different numbers they generated by making gestures on a digital dance mat. By moving about to demonstrate and compare different numbers, learners were able improve their understanding of magnitude and their basic numerical skills.⁹⁹ The second also combined activities for learning in an unlikely way. Two mobile phone apps, Multimedia Word and Drumming Strokes, have been designed by Chinese and American academics to teach groups of young, rural Chinese learners how to write Chinese characters and improve their literacy.¹⁰⁰ To support continued participation and confidence, the app is based on traditional Chinese group games that learners are already familiar with. This culturally sensitive model adds an element of familiarity but, more importantly, the social qualities of the games are suggested to increase engagement.
The most highly rated teacher-led examples illustrated the potential of bots.¹⁰¹ In one example, artificial intelligence (AI) chatbots - computer programs that can simulate conversations with a learner - helped learners to practice their foreign languages. Learners with limited vocabularies are challenged to ask interesting and different questions to the chatbot, so that its responses create a conversation.¹⁰² Similarly, the online game Light-Bot allows primary-aged pupils to develop basic programming skills as they learn to navigate a bot by choosing a sequence of directions.



Children playing with mobile games for learning Chinese

Other promising teacher-led examples focussed on practising maths. Motion Math uses the intrinsic features of tablet computers to create educational games designed to engage learners with maths. The apps take advantage of the tablets functionality, such as being able to tilt the device to indicate larger numbers. In this way learners have a physical and visual representation of the concepts they are learning.¹⁰³ Tools such as BuzzMath,¹⁰⁴ a US-based online

platform, provide practice exercises with instant feedback, visual demonstrations, and detailed solutions to school-aged learners. Teachers can use the abundance of resources or activities with an entire class or assign specific work to individual learners. Although it appeared to be highly promising, it was not rated highly by our experts. This is possibly because the experts thought that technology was being used to simply sugar-coat uninspiring activities.

By contrast, the more highly rated examples - Zombie Division (see case study)¹⁰⁵ and the digital dance mat mentioned above - did not simply use games to disguise an otherwise dull period of practice. They also provided learners with interesting and challenging problems, and with feedback to help learners develop new insights. The evaluation of the digital dance mat showed that improvement comes not simply from the novelty of the experiences, but from developing young learners' mental representations of number magnitude.

2.7 LEARNING FROM ASSESSMENT

Gaining awareness of what a learner understands is fundamental to increasing their own understanding and knowledge. Technology can be used to support assessment in a variety of ways. It can be used to compile learning activities and enable both teachers and learners to reflect upon them; and to track the progress of learning and to present that information about progress in rich and interactive ways. Yet there is little innovation in technologysupported assessment, possibly in part due to the lack of excitement that assessment generates in the education sector.





Subtle Stone

There is increasing evidence that emotions affect learning.

The Subtle Stone is a novel use of technology to help learners reflect on the impact of their emotional state upon their language learning, demonstrating that technology-enabled assessment can be used for more than discipline knowledge. The first tool of its kind, the stone is designed to collect learners' self-reported emotional experiences in real time. Equally it can easily be recreated by hacking a commercial juggling ball. The Subtle Stone supports both learners, and their teachers, to consider the emotional impact of learning activities and teaching methods. (http://www.madelinebalaam. co.uk/the-subtle-stone/)

Highlights

- The current level of research innovation in technology-supported assessment is modest; the most innovative work focusses on self-assessment through reflection rather than teacher-led assessment.
- The majority of examples of innovation are based upon summative assessment of traditional subjects. More work is needed to assess the potential for technology to support formative assessment or the assessment of other skills.
- Combining data, captured through a variety of digital tools, with learning analytics appears to offer great promise for assessment.
- Another promising area for development is e-assessment using social networks and read-write technologies such as web 2.0, which can facilitate peer, collaborative and self-guided learning.

Knowing what learners know, and don't know, is crucial to effective learning. If learners attempt tasks that are too complex, they are likely to fail; if they attempt tasks that are too easy they may not progress as they should. Accurate information about learners' current understanding can help us to offer appropriate feedback and increase learners' own awareness of their learning needs. Accurate assessment and analysis also allows learning to be tailored. Learners differ physically, emotionally and cognitively, and in their ability to understand what they know and how they can progress. Recognising these differences can help to ensure that everyone achieves their full potential.

Two important processes underpin how we identify what learners know and understand. *Reflection* involves learners considering their own learning activity. By reflecting learners develop the skills and self-awareness they need to refine their own learning activities. *Assessing* involves teachers considering the learners' learning activity. Effective assessing provides feedback and feed-*forward* advice to a learner about their learning activity: learners must be able to respond to a critical voice. Self-assessment requires the learner to provide that critical voice, which links back to the process of reflection. We must also recognise that at times teachers are also learners, for example, when taking part in professional development activities. The processes of reflection and assessment are no less important for them as they are for any other learner.

Technology can be used to support assessment in a variety of ways. It can be used to compile learning activities and enable both teachers and learners to reflect upon them; and to track the progress of learning and to present that information in rich and interactive ways.

Interest in formative e-assessment is increasing. There are numerous examples of developments in e-assessment using mobile and immersive environments as well as social and collaborative networks.¹⁰⁶ A large amount of development has also taken place on diagnostic testing environments that allow teachers and learners to assess present performance against prior performance.¹⁰⁷

We found numerous research and teacher-led examples of innovation in assessment. The technologies used in the research examples were notably different from those used in the teacher-led examples. This is possibly due to funding issues and the greater imperative upon academic researchers to seek technological innovation. All the teacher-led examples relied upon 'off the shelf' technology, including free software such as Audacity¹⁰⁸ and Jing

(audio and video)¹⁰⁹ and SurveyMonkey (questionnaire design).¹¹⁰ The research examples more often involved bespoke software, such as an adaptive learning environment,¹¹¹ or existing technologies with added bespoke features, such as a system that automatically captures whiteboard images and makes them accessible.¹¹²

In most examples learners used a web-based or virtual environment via desktop or laptop computers. Exceptions included the Subtle Stone (described above)¹¹³ and a mobile phone app designed to support self-assessment by learners at secondary school and university.¹¹⁴

Most examples were in classroom settings from primary school through to university. Many of the research examples focussed on assessment in formal sciences. This is possibly because it is more straightforward to automate assessment in these subjects. However, technology specifically designed to support reflection tended to support general, rather than subject-specific reflection.

Few of the research and teacher-led examples of innovation in this learning theme were highly rated. However, two teacher-led examples were ranked in the top ten innovations. The first involved the use of an audio tool (Audacity) and video mixing tool (Moviemaker) by secondary students to create podcasts reviewing their learning that year, that could be used, for example, to prepare for an exam.¹¹⁵ By creating audio and visual outputs learners consolidate their learning and produce a resource for other learners. The second example involved learners using digital cameras and a presentation tool, Kidpix, to record, compare, and comment on changes to the environment, for example, how the woods change over seasons. Through this exercise, they learned how to capture and observe long-term changes, and assess them in systematic ways.¹¹⁶

Many of the teacher-led examples focussed on using technology to support teachers to work together. For example, technology was used to share information about learner behaviour or teachers' own practice to support community reflection.¹¹⁷ In one example, teachers used the ClassDojo mobile app to record learner behaviour and achievements in context. The app automatically creates summaries and provides on-going tracking of behaviour which can be shared with learners, other teachers, administrators and parents.

Despite their relatively low ratings, a number of research examples also provide some potentially interesting insights for further developments in technology-supported assessment. One example involved the use of automated feedback to support learners at university with their written assignments. Learners received comparisons with other learners' work by using language technologies that analyse concepts within and between texts and identify any overlaps and gaps. Similarities and differences are then visually represented side by side for the learner to review. An initial study demonstrated that learners were able to identify overlapping and missing core concepts, both in individual texts and in a compiled group text.¹¹⁸ A second example involved the use of an automated marking system, AssignSim, to support assessment of university learners' programming assignments. This tool measured the similarity of learners' work with examples from a bank of previously marked assignments.¹¹⁹ Experimental evidence indicates good correlations between system assigned marks and those provided by human markers.

Combining data captured through handheld devices,¹²⁰ activity logs, timestamps, version tracking, and target-setting¹²¹ with learning analytics also appears to offer great promise. Another promising area for development is e-assessment using social networks and read-write technologies such as web 2.0, which can facilitate peer, collaborative and self-guided learning (for both teachers and learners).¹²² One study by researchers at the Hong Kong

Institute of Education looked at the effects of using video recordings of learner teachers to support their reflection on their teaching.¹²³ The project used a web cam and online storage for videos so that teachers could easily capture their lessons and review and reflect on their performance afterwards. It was found that video browsing prompted learner-teachers to make more reflective notes, and that they were more deeply reflective about discipline, classroom management, and professional teaching knowledge.

In another example, multimedia materials used to teach computer science were combined with tailored prompts so that learners could explain to themselves what they had understood.¹²⁴ Self-explanation is an important part of building learners' understanding of their learning. The results indicated that adaptive prompts can help to address different learner needs, but that learning from these prompts depends upon levels of learner expertise.

2.8 LEARNING IN AND ACROSS SETTINGS

Learners improve their knowledge and deepen their understanding when they apply their learning across different locations, representations and activities. However, it can be difficult for learners to apply learning from one setting, such as a lesson at school, to another, such as a field trip or workplace. Technology can help - teachers and learners can use a variety of devices to capture, store, compare and integrate material from a variety of settings.



📕 Teacher-Led 🛛 📕 Research



Purple Mash takes advantage of cloudcomputing technology. It offers a suite of learning tools hosted on the Internet to support primary-aged pupils to transfer learning between school and home. This award-winning site, run by 2Simple Software, contains hundreds of educational projects, games, apps and tools. One such activity explores water use at home and includes video examples, a gallery of clipart and photos, and guidance about how to complete the

activity. Learners can develop their schoolwork at home with parents. Schools must pay a subscription fee to use the suite of tools. (www.purplemash.com)

Highlights

- The 'context of learning' has an important role to play in determining the quality of learning learning across locations can enhance the learning experience.
- Technology can help learners apply and transfer learning from one setting, such as a lesson at school, to another, such as a field trip or the home.
- The variety of locations in which the technologies were used, subjects covered, and ages of the learners suggest that digital tools have the potential to enhance learning in a wide variety of settings.
- Key success factors include: understanding what parents really need in order to get them involved; recognising that activities designed for school are not necessarily transferable to the home, and vice versa; providing on-going support; and ensuring that learners' uses of technology at home are purposeful.

Learners interact with people, places and things as they learn. This context of learning can determine not only the quality of learners' experiences but also their learning outcomes. Learners improve their knowledge and deepen their understanding when they apply their learning across different locations, representations and activities. Solving real-world examples enables learners to develop skills, build knowledge, and apply their understanding. Applying their learning in an integrated and meaningful way can help learners appreciate the usefulness of subject knowledge that might otherwise seem 'academic'.

It can be difficult for learners to apply learning from one setting, such as a lesson at school, to another, such as a field trip or workplace. Technology can help. Learners can capture, store, compare and integrate material from a variety of settings using devices such as mobile recording and communication tools, PDAs, cameras, phones, and GPS-enabled devices.

One research example involved the use of Lifelogs – digital logs of everyday lives and experiences.¹²⁵ Learners create Lifelogs by capturing their experiences through pictures, text, and geographical locations using their mobile phone. A tool then displays the information captured at pre-set intervals. By displaying different kinds of information at different times, the tool can prompt memories and stimulate reflection on learning experiences. For example, the location information enables learners to understand habits in their behaviour; while visual cues support the process of recollection. Lifelogs was rated the second most promising example of innovation by our experts, suggesting that it has great potential to further enhance the learning experience.

Technology can also enhance learners' exploration of the 'real world'. There is growing evidence that emerging technologies, such as augmented reality, can support learning by overlaying objects in the real world with digital information. Systems such as EcoMOBILE (Ecosystems Mobile Outdoor Blended Immersive Learning Environment),¹²⁶ developed at the Harvard Graduate School of Education, combine augmented reality technology and environmental probes for learners visiting a real ecosystem. They can use their mobile devices to collect data that helps them to solve practical problems and apply scientific concepts to real-life scenarios. For example, EcoMOBILE was used by learners to solve an 'environmental mystery' during a series of field trips to a local pond. Learners collected video, photo, and audio data about the environment while accessing supplementary information and clues through an augmented reality interface on their mobile phone.

New York Hall of Science. Photographs used with permission.



They then gathered real-time scientific data on the ecosystem using environmental probes. The technology created a scientific process that challenged learners to apply theoretical knowledge to a tangible experience outside the classroom. Another wellevidenced and highly ranked research example involved the use of mobile phones to support a history field trip.¹²⁷ Learners worked in groups to explore a location and learn about its history. They were able to navigate the area and relate what

they were looking at to content provided by the mobile phone.

Technology can also help others support learners as they move between locations, and between physical and digital environments. For example, there is good evidence that technology can support parents to support their children as they transfer their learning between school and home. One highly ranked and promising example of technological innovation in this area is Purple Mash by 2Simple (described above).¹²⁸ It was ranked among the top 20 most promising innovations by our experts. Virtual and Managed Learning Environments (VLEs and MLEs), when appropriately designed and used in conjunction with face-to-face courses, were found to help parents understand how to use the technologies and resources available to support their children.¹²⁹ These technologies offer great potential to link learning between home and school. Handheld and mobile technologies were found to be particularly valuable for building home-school relationships when little other technology was available in learners' homes.



Brighton-based start-up Locomatrix¹³⁰ offers teachers and learners an easy way to create location-based games with their application programming interface (API). Using GPS and mobile technologies, locationbased games can be developed for use across a variety of environments. Teachers and learners can design their own games that not only reflect but interact with their local environment. We found several similar examples of gamesbased learning. One particularly interesting example involved

learners with Special Educational Needs using cameras in 'digital scavenger hunts' to find words in different areas of their school campus.

It is worth noting that there were relatively few innovations (eight research, and three teacher-led). However, these few examples presented a variety of interesting innovations that showed promise for wider implementation.

The variety of locations in which the technologies were used (from schools to local ponds), the subjects covered (from science to history), and the ages of the learners (from primary school to adults) suggest that digital tools have the potential to enhance learning in and across a wide variety of settings.

Research examples involved the use of both bespoke software and 'off the shelf' products, such as VLEs. Handheld devices and RFID tags were used together to support writing in different environments¹³¹ and smartphones were combined with bespoke knowledge management software.¹³² The technologies used in the teacher-led examples were more readily available than those found in the research examples. They included mobile phones, interactive whiteboards, cameras, secure cloud storage and online tools.

The evidence from these examples points to a number of key success factors. They include: understanding what parents really need in order to get them involved; recognising that activities designed for school are not necessarily transferable to the home, and vice versa; providing on-going support; and ensuring that learners' uses of technology at home are purposeful.¹³³ Technology was most successful in building relationships between home and school when there was already 'cultural harmony between home and school'.¹³⁴

CHAPTER 3: BRINGING LEARNING TOGETHER

In Chapter 2, we looked at ways in which technology is being used to support learners across eight learning themes. However, each theme incorporates a variety of learning activities; and a single episode of learning – such as a lesson, a project, or a unit – is rarely confined to a single learning theme. For instance, learners might explore the application of geometry by watching video lectures (*Learning through Exploring*) and then practice what they have learned through an online adaptive game (*Learning through Practising*). This game might also track learner progress and provide feedback to the teacher (*Learning from Assessment*), so that he or she can adapt the next class to focus on the most challenging concepts identified within targeted group discussions (*Learning with Others*). To achieve a more rich, cohesive, and productive learning experience, we must consider the links that exist between different learning activities within and between themes.

LINKING LEARNING THEMES

Learning Themes are made up of...

Learning Activities – such as creating an animation or playing a maths game – which are connected and embedded across different learning themes into...

Learning Episodes – such as lessons, projects, or units – that are linked and sequenced to create...

Broader Learning Experiences at the classroom, school, and institutional level.

Linking learning activities within and across different learning themes enables learners to create a coherent learning episode. This reinforces learning and creates deeper understanding. It can also strengthen future learning by helping learners establish more versatile approaches to learning.

Learning episodes can be created by coordinating or mutually embedding learning activities. The episode may be structured by teachers; or by the learners themselves. Technology can support both. In the first part of this chapter we consider how learning themes are linked within learning activities; and we explore the potential role of digital technologies to support the formation of learning episodes. Individual learning episodes may themselves be linked. Many teachers strive to link learning episodes across a course, classroom, or entire school in order to create a coherent learning experience. Again technology can help to link learning episodes. To do this effectively, the technology must take account of existing structures and responsibilities within the classroom, an established curriculum, and relevant parties outside the classroom. In the second part of this chapter we consider how technology can support linking learning episodes at an institutional level.

LINKING LEARNING ACTIVITIES

We start by considering how technology can support teachers in orchestrating learning – that is, link learning activities within and across learning themes to create episodes of learning. To some extent, this is revealed by the presence of multiple learning activities within the examples of innovation reviewed in this report. Over half (57 per cent) of the research examples encompassed two or more forms of learning. Some featured different learning activities within the same learning theme, for example when *simulation* was being used to support *scripted inquiry* as part of *Learning through Inquiry*. Other examples featured learning activities spanning multiple themes.

Table 3.1 compares the learning themes that we categorised as being the primary focus in the research innovations we reviewed with those that were categorised as being of secondary importance.

Learning theme	Primary Occurrences	Secondary Occurrences
Learning from Experts	23	9
Learning with Others	28	14
Learning through Making	5	19
Learning through Exploring	10	12
Learning through Inquiry	24	6
Learning through Practising	10	4
Learning from Assessment	16	6
Learning in and across Settings	8	3

Table 3.1: Primary and Secondary Occurrences of Learning Themes in Research-led Innovations

Learning through Making, Learning with Others and Learning through Exploring were the most often used in a supporting role, while *Learning through Practising* and *Learning in and across Settings* were least often used in a supporting role. *Learning through Making* was a primary focus for learning activity in only five cases, but played a supporting role in 19. In a typical example, *Learning from Assessment* was supported by *Learning through Making* – learners reflected and prepared for their exams by making podcasts with audio and video tools.¹³⁵

Some patterns emerged within particular learning themes. Where *Learning through Inquiry* was used in a supporting role in six cases, none of these involved *scripted inquiry*. In other words, *scripted inquiry* was usually the dominant form of learning, either being used on its own or providing an overarching structure for other learning activities. Learning activities that occurred most frequently in a supporting role were *collaborative* learning *in Learning with Others* (eight cases) and *browsing in Learning through Exploring* (seven cases). These learning activities play a crucial supporting role in a variety of innovations: in one example of *Learning through Making*, learners that had created multimedia presentations of their visit to a museum were expected to share them with their peers.¹³⁶

Project Noah is an online platform that enables citizen scientists worldwide to collect and share ecological data and document the world's organisms. Described as a "digital butterfly net for the 21st century", this project uses mobile phones to help a community of learners to explore aspects of nature in their local area, for example by identifying types of insects.

Alongside independently capturing information about local nature, participants can create targeted missions which others can join and contribute to. For example, the Global Urban Biodiversity mission has over 5,700 participants and 23,500 documented spottings of urban wildlife. Project Noah also offers a classroom setting which teachers can use to create curriculum-based missions as assignments and keep track of student activity. A selection of sample course materials is available to support teachers to build activities involving inquiry, exploration, and practice. For instance, in the Tree Tour activity, learners map, locate and identify trees in a local outdoor space, while the Writing Goes Wild activity brings together science and writing by having learners turn their captured observations of wildlife into a descriptive writing activity.

Launched as part of New York University's Interactive Telecommunications Programme in 2010, nearly 340,000 spottings have taken place worldwide to date. (http://www.projectnoah.org)

The tradition of much research design is to isolate and analyse. Therefore it is perhaps not surprising that few research studies consider the ways in which technology can be used to link activities across learning themes. There were even fewer teacher-led innovations that linked learning activities – only 30 (out of over 80) featured activities that crossed two or more learning themes. This may have been a consequence of the limited information available on many of the teacher-led innovations. However, this lack of attention is unfortunate given the considerable potential for technology to create coherent, complex episodes of learning. It is likely that teachers would welcome tools that can link learning activities.

Despite the general lack of evidence, a number of examples have demonstrated the potential of technology to link multiple learning activities into an episode of learning. We have highlighted three particularly promising examples below.

In the European MuseumScouts project,¹³⁷ learners undertook research into specific artefacts during museum visits. They used a range of devices (pens, paper, and smartphones and created multimedia presentations in groups using a specially created tool called Evolution. In the Austrian pilot of this project, learners explored an exhibition in small groups, and then captured what they discovered through photographs, drawings and notes. Learners were also invited to meet and interview the curator of the exhibition, who offered additional



multimedia resources about the exhibition. Following the visit, these groups produced timelines of the exhibition using flash animation, combining them with designs they had made in another class. Through this episode of learning, we see that MuseumScouts is primarily about *Learning through Making*; but aspects of *Learning through Exploring, Learning in and across Locations* and *Learning with Others* are deployed at different points within the episode.

A suite of web-based learning tools in a highly rated teacher-led example¹³⁸ represents one example of *Learning in and across Settings* providing an overarching framework for *Learning through Making*. Small groups of learners were taught web design using collaboration scripts and incomplete concept maps. These tools were designed to allow groups of learners to work together on extended tasks using a scripted inquiry approach. The *cross-setting* opportunities created by the online environment allow classroom support for *construction* projects that mainly occur at home.

Finally, work by Hartmann et al.¹³⁹ is particularly interesting because it links different learning themes indirectly – *Learning from Experts* and elements of *Learning through Making* and *Learning with Others*. A learning analytics tool assisted novice programmers who have encountered compiler error messages. The tool acts in a *tutorial* role, since it provided different feedback depending on the particular error message. Yet this tutorial relies on learners *annotating* their own error messages and submitting them to the system. A social recommender system then used a bank of the learners' own annotations to provide help to others. There is no direct collaboration between learners – the relationship between the learning themes is only apparent if learners are considered collectively.

LINKING AT THE INSTITUTIONAL LEVEL

Some commentators argue that fundamental change in learning will only occur if we address teaching practice and resourcing at an institutional level. In other words, we must strive for innovative classrooms and schools, not just innovative episodes of learning. There are many examples of initiatives seeking to achieve such change, including Apple's Classrooms of Tomorrow Today, Quest to Learn, and the Korean Smart Schools. The mission statements in many of these initiatives (e.g., the Q2L learning model¹⁴⁰, the ACOT2 report¹⁴¹, and Harvard's Project Zero¹⁴²) contain strikingly similar aspirations. In particular, they assert that:

- Learning should strive for depth and understanding
- Learning experiences should be authentic or relevant
- Learning should create and disseminate new knowledge
- Assessment is important

50

New technologies are frequently seen as key to shaping learning in these terms. However, there are few examples of technology being used to produce learning experiences that integrate these aspirations – that is, experiences that have depth, are authentic and create new knowledge, while at the same time acknowledging the role of assessment.

In 1999 the Malaysian Ministry of Education introduced the Smart School Policy as part of a range of policies aimed at developing a more knowledge-based economy. While Smart Schools embraced digital technology, the more fundamental change related to the curriculum. Teaching became less driven by textbooks; learning became more structured around personal inquiry; and assessment occurred more frequently but was managed by learners themselves. The success of the initiative has depended on establishing a communications network within and between schools. Emphasis has been placed on adopting learning management systems, access to Internet sources, and extensive use of multimedia devices. The initiative has successfully taken the school system to a state of digital maturity. It illustrates how technology can be a catalyst for curricular innovation: achieving radical change in teaching and learning through investment in infrastructure.

(Ghavifekr, S., Hussin, S. and Ghani, M.F.A. (2011) The process of Malaysian smart school policy cycle: A qualitative analysis. 'Journal of Research and Reflections in Education.' 5(2), 83-104)

Technology is often seen as a means of delivering depth and understanding through its capacity to provide easy access to information. Authenticity or relevance may often be achieved by *Learning in and across Settings*. Yet examples of innovation in this theme were relatively rare and not always highly rated by our experts. We found more examples of technology being used to create and disseminate; yet *Learning by Making* was most often only used in a supporting role. And we found few examples of technology being used to support the *performative* dimension of *Learning with Others* (i.e., creating audiences for learning outputs).

The situation with assessment is particularly interesting. Assessment is by far the single most unpopular learning activity. None of the cases involving assessment was ranked highly by our expert panel; particularly when assessment was used to support other learning activities. Yet much of the assessment seen in the innovations reviewed was not summative, with its (often negative) association of judgement and examination. Assessment can also be formative: that is, it can be used to monitor learner progress and provide feedback that guides and supports, rather than judges and examines. It is this broader sense of assessment that offers greater scope for innovation and perhaps deserves more recognition.

Research on 'blended learning' suggests that combining face-to-face and online learning may be beneficial. Flipped learning (see case study) requires teachers to build lessons upon material presented online beforehand. But this may underestimate teachers' roles in preparing learners to use the available information effectively. For example, Greene, et al.¹⁴³ have shown the benefits of teachers supporting learners with planning skills before accessing history content from a hypermedia learning environment. One study of 595 learners who used a course management system as part of a blended learning approach¹⁴⁴ found that the system encouraged deeper learning and enhanced understanding by promoting constructive dialogue between learners and enabling interactive learning. The

findings from the study suggest that learners gain more when they are provided with opportunities for dialogue along with the learning material.

Flipped classrooms, or inverted classrooms, use technology to allow learners to view teacher exposition (*Learning from Experts*) before the start of a lesson. This allows more time for other forms of learning to flourish during lessons, such as *Learning through Practising* or *Learning with Others*. To 'flip' their classroom, teachers present learning materials online, perhaps created using screen-casting technology, which learners use to prepare in advance. This relatively under-researched idea has mainly been driven by teachers. Proponents argue that learners develop a more open attitude towards cooperative learning and new teaching methods, but become more critical of typical classroom learning. As such, a core concern is maintaining coherence online and face-to-face teaching.

(Strayer, J.F. (2012) How learning in an inverted classroom influences cooperation, innovation and task orientation. 'Learning Environments Research.' 15(2), 171-193.)

With this in mind, an important challenge for future innovation in educational technology is the design of tools at an institutional level: that is, tools that will enable institutions to deliver those aspirations highlighted earlier in an effective, joined-up way. The VLE is commonly used to join up learning; but it is primarily used for dissemination purposes only. One example of innovation in this area is the Knowledge Forum,¹⁴⁵ in which original project work is researched, co-ordinated and shared. However, such innovations are rare. Perhaps the most promising development in whole-school resourcing is the EU-funded KP lab initiative.¹⁴⁶ Based in Helsinki, this cross-Europe consortium seeks to create new theories, tools and models of collaborative technology for education. The lab brings together researchers, enterprises and end users to collectively design new technologies and services. Research into its efficacy is on-going.

The examples highlighted in this report show that technology can link learning activities within and between learning themes and thereby provide more coherent episodes of learning. However, there has been much less consideration of how technology can be used to join up learning in a coherent way within and between institutions. This is an area that warrants further research.

CHAPTER 4: CONTEXT IS IMPORTANT

INTRODUCTION

In the previous two Chapters we have highlighted many technological innovations that hold real promise to improve learning. But new technologies cannot, in themselves, improve learning. The context within which they are used is crucial to their success or otherwise.

It is important to guard against the assumption that new technologies will smoothly and effortlessly improve learning. Evidence clearly suggests that digital tools offer opportunities that are still to be realised; and that realising them is contingent on how we use them and the *context of learning*.



Fig. 4.1 The Learning Context, based on Luckin's Ecology of Resources.

With this in mind, this Chapter considers the learning context within which technological innovation takes place. We draw upon the Ecology of Resources framework introduced in Chapter 1 to organise our discussion - *Environment, Knowledge and Skills, People,* and *Tools.*¹⁴⁷ Understanding the nature, role and availability of these resources, beyond the technologies themselves, can help us predict their likely impact. It also helps us to offer guidance about how innovations can be most effectively rolled out. It must be noted that very few examples we reviewed considered this context in great detail. As a consequence, we can only provide very general guidance and must stress the need for future evaluations to take greater account of context.

ENVIRONMENT

Most of the examples reviewed for this report took place in formal learning environments: primary and secondary schools or universities. We did find examples of technology-supported learning in other environments, including field trips, museums, and the home. Understandably, these were most prevalent in the *Learning in and across Settings* theme. We found almost no examples of technological innovation in pre-school settings such as nurseries. Technology may be effective in supporting very young learners; but caution is required when applying the findings of our review to learners and settings outside those covered by the evidence.

It is clear that some learning activities are more easily conducted in the classroom because, for example, of the availability of specialist equipment or expertise. Nevertheless there is clearly room for further technological innovation that looks beyond the classroom. Indeed, one of the key benefits of many digital tools is that they can be used in many learning environments. But the particular learning benefits of digital tools are not automatically transferrable from one learning environment to another. For example, many of the resources we reviewed were available online and could be accessed from any location with an Internet connection. But, if they are to be used successfully in different learning environments, they have to be adaptable; and learners need to know how to adapt them.

As digital tools become cheaper, more powerful and ubiquitous in the home, learners of all ages have increasing access to learning resources outside of the classroom. It will be important to find ways to help them make the most of these – what works well in the classroom may not automatically work well in the home.¹⁴⁸ Although several research examples considered learning at home,¹⁴⁹ there were few teacher-led examples. As we discussed in Chapter 2, the key to success is the care and inclusiveness with which technologies have been designed and implemented.

Whether they are inside or outside the classroom, all learning environments contain a set of formal and informal rules that shape the behaviour of teachers and learners. These rules may have a profound impact on the use of technology to support learning; while the use of technology may have a profound impact on those rules. However, we found little information about the effect of these rules on the use of technology, and vice versa. Greater attention to the reporting of these factors would provide practical guidance for those trying to develop and apply innovations in different environments.

Sometimes existing infrastructure may limit the use of technology. Many examples required access to electricity¹⁵⁰ or the Internet. The introduction of faster broadband speeds gives learners greater access to multimedia resources in many areas, but this will be a gradual process. This has important implications for VLEs, where quality of experience is filtered by the speed of connection.

It is clear that environmental factors can limit the use of technology; but technology can be used to expand learning environments.

Several innovations promoted connections between classrooms within schools. One example involved using QR codes and mobile devices to create treasure hunts around a school.¹⁵¹ Technology can also support learning in outdoor areas, by, for example, guiding a tour of a floodplain.¹⁵² And it can connect learners: from across museums in Europe;¹⁵³ to cities and villages across India.¹⁵⁴ Finally, many innovations described virtual spaces that

could be considered a distinct type of learning environment. They include various learning management systems,¹⁵⁵ as well as more informal gaming environments such as World of Warcraft.¹⁵⁶

KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS

The way knowledge and skills are categorised shapes learning. Education in the UK is currently organised around subject headings that have been used for over a century. Today's subjects are comparable to those listed in the 1901 Orders (England): English, Maths, Science, History, Geography, Modern Language, Drawing, PE, and Housewifery.¹⁵⁷ Many of the innovations we have reviewed focussed on using technology to support teaching of the traditional 'core' subjects of Maths, English, and Science. Some forms of learning activity may lend themselves to certain subjects, particularly subjects that can be easily codified and assessed. However, the rather limited set of subjects covered by much of the innovative practice we have reviewed, and the lack of emphasis upon skills, is a concern.

Research is beginning to question whether traditional conceptions of 'knowledge' are appropriate for contemporary society. Many commentators advocate shifting the focus away from developing subject-based knowledge to developing skills such as collaborating, problem solving, or critical thinking. Throughout this report, we have highlighted a number of examples of technology-driven innovation that support learners to acquire those skills. Many examples in the *Learning with Others* and *Learning through Exploring* themes show how technology can support collaborative learning; while examples in the *Learning through Inquiry* theme show how technology can support learners to think critically.

Shifting our approach to learning towards the acquisition of skills and competencies presents a challenge – it does not fit comfortably within current assessment systems. Learners cannot get an A* in collaboration or inquiry-based learning; nor can learners really take a final examination on creativity. All of those involved in education recognise the importance of these skills, both in purely educational terms and in life. But such a radical change in the approach to learning requires radical change in the approach to learning requires radical change in the approach to assessment. There are signs that this shift is beginning to take place – as seen in the case of the Malaysian education system highlighted in Chapter 3. Interestingly, these evolving approaches to teaching and assessment appear to be driving new and more integrated uses of technology. While far from a causal link, it could be suggested the willingness to adopt more contemporary approaches to learning can help to open the door for more innovative tools.

PEOPLE

Much of the evidence on innovation looks at the way in which technology supports the role(s) of teachers, for example by enabling them to manage resources and interact with learners or other teachers more effectively.

Teachers have a crucial role in ensuring that promising innovations do not fail in practice. Developers of technology must also consider the role of appropriate teacher skills and attitudes. Yet approaches to training vary and have had mixed success. Our experts did not highly rate innovations designed to improve teachers' training. Two examples that received low ratings were: providing teachers with access to videos about technology for learning; and providing new ways for teachers to record, share and reflect on their teaching with video cameras and a video tagging database tool. The latter was not rated highly because it was felt to impose significant time demands. Digital tools may reduce teachers' workloads or improve their teaching practice in the long term; but there will inevitably be an initial cost to the teachers as they learn to use those new tools. Take-up is likely to be poor if the perceived future benefits do not outweigh the initial costs.

Peer learners can also have a significant impact on individual learners. Digital networks create new possibilities for such peer learning. These networks bring together learners with different skills, knowledge, attitudes and interests. Technology can be used to enhance the effectiveness of peer learning: for example, by allowing peers to be grouped by ability; or by creating anonymous discussion forums to encourage more open debate.

The level and type of support that learners receive from other individuals will be determined by the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of those individuals. For example, parents' skills and attitudes will influence learners' use of technology at home. Those with limited technology skills and knowledge may feel unsure or unable to provide appropriate support. However, several examples we reviewed have demonstrated how technology can help parents support learners at home. One example showed how grandparents living away from their grandchildren can support their learning with a digital storybook and video conference application, such as Skype.¹⁵⁸

Although rarely identified in the examples reviewed, other people within schools – such as senior managers, teaching assistants, technical staff and network managers – also influence teaching and learning. Again, it is important to take their skills and attitudes into account when developing technological innovations in learning.

We should also consider the role of people in the wider community, such as business people. The most highly ranked innovation by our expert panel was one in which companies presented learners with creative challenges (often using technology) through an online portal.¹⁵⁹ Another example involved businesses providing space and organisation for a programming workshop.¹⁶⁰ Businesses can provide resources and expertise not normally found, or that are extremely limited, in schools, while also offering a real life context for learning.

TOOLS

The resources considered above will undoubtedly influence the success, or otherwise, of technological innovation. But, ultimately, technological innovation is driven largely by the technology itself. Clearly non-digital tools will shape learners' experiences. However, for the purposes of this report, we retain our focus on digital tools. We have looked at specific tools in detail in Chapters 2 and 3; below, we discuss more general trends.

The tools used in most of the cases we reviewed were standard desktop and laptop devices; but mobile phones were also prevalent. As mobile devices, including tablets, become ever more powerful and incorporate ever more features, they are likely to become an increasingly important tool for learning.

Most of the innovations focussed on the use of hardware or applications – few looked at the role of networks or platforms. Nevertheless, networks and platforms are required to manage and link the hardware and applications; they therefore perhaps warrant greater consideration. Many technology companies highlight the crucial role of infrastructure in managing learning with technology; connecting users while keeping access secure. One significant development is the move toward cloud-based computing, which allows learners to access storage and applications from any device connected to the Internet. The benefits of cloud computing were illustrated in one case¹⁶¹ where primary-aged pupils accessed a range of applications through a web browser and link learning activities, such as making an animation, between home and school. Another example showed how multiple learners could access and comment on a web-based presentation via instant messaging.¹⁶²

Another interesting development is the move from traditional desktop computers to 'thin clients', where learners simply access material on a screen linked to a central server. This allows learners to access material from different locations while any technical problems can be addressed centrally. However, it is not yet clear how the central management of devices will affect teacher ownership and efficacy.

A wide range of software was used in the examples we reviewed; from highly bespoke applications to more generic writing or communication tools. We found a wide range of web-based tools being used to support learning; and, accompanying the growing trend in the use of mobile devices noted above, there is a growing market in apps for learning. The teacher-led cases tended to involve the use of readily available, off the shelf – and often free – software, while many of the research cases used bespoke software. Such software can be expensive to produce, but is invaluable in driving innovation. Yet the value of such investment will only be realised if such bespoke software can be used to develop better technology and practices that can be made widely available.

As we showed in Chapter 2, digital tools are driving innovation in learning in a variety of new, exciting and interesting ways. However, we also found three factors that, if not addressed, could potentially constrain their wider adoption.

Cost: Adopting new technologies can be expensive, especially when considering the total costs of ownership that include installation, training, upkeep, and (ultimately) replacement. One particular difficulty is considering the costs of using 'free' online programs and apps. Signing up for a 'free' program usually requires teachers to provide basic information, such as name and email address, that can be highly valuable to companies for marketing purposes. Once access is given to a 'free' program, there may be charges associated with extending provisions: extra features or storage space, for example. This requires teachers to make a judgment about the cost effectiveness of different programs, often without having had the time to fully evaluate them. There are added difficulties when learners are required to provide their information.

Complexity: Resources for learners are becoming increasingly complex. A teacher may be confident in making their own digital worksheet or interactive presentation and sharing these with other teachers and learners. The TES Connect website¹⁶³ is an excellent innovation that enables teachers to share digital resources. However, it seems unreasonable to expect material developed by teachers to compete with the more aesthetically pleasing commercially available materials from developers of digital tools. On the other hand, many developers lack understanding of teaching. As a result teachers have to filter and adapt digital tools in order to make them suitable for learning. This can be time-consuming and

tedious. Building effective tools for the future will require effective collaboration between developers, teachers and learners.

Safety: A challenge faced by developers and teachers is providing learners with the freedom to browse information and communicate with one another safely. Given the responsibility for safety within schools, it is perhaps inevitable that access to digital tools is often tightly constrained. An obvious tension involves the use of mobile devices in the classroom where schools may feel that the potential for distraction outweighs the potential learning benefits. This tension is likely to increase as mobile devices become ever more powerful.

CHAPTER 5: BRINGING RESEARCH INTO REALITY

INTRODUCTION

Throughout this report we have presented a wide range of evidence on how technology can support learning. We have highlighted innovative practice from the traditional academic research literature and the growing body of informal online practitioner reports. But understanding how technology can be employed to improve learning is only part of the equation. If these innovations are to enter the mainstream, and if they are to fulfil their obvious potential, there are a number of systemic challenges to be addressed.

In this final Chapter we highlight the greatest opportunities for technology to support learning. We then set out three key priorities for achieving better use of technology for learning.

LEARNING FROM THE EVIDENCE

One of the greatest challenges of this report has been assembling our findings into a short, definitive set of recommendations. Having focussed on learning practices instead of the technologies themselves, we would be missing the point if we were to prescribe a 'top ten' list of technological innovations. A tablet, mobile device or an augmented reality environment won't improve learning on their own – we need to make better, and more creative use of them. However, we have identified certain trends and opportunities grounded in effective practice. These are highlighted within each of the learning themes in Chapter 2. Below we set out what we believe are the most compelling opportunities to improve learning through technology.

IMPROVE ASSESSMENT

Assessment has a drab reputation. However, there is a significant opportunity to consider how technology can make assessment more efficient, effective, and supportive. This potential is not going unnoticed – but there is too little innovative technology-supported practice in the critical area of *Learning from Assessment*. Technology-supported assessment does not need to be restricted to the end of a learning episode; and it need not be dull or dispiriting. Emerging learning analytics technologies, that capture data about learning within and beyond formal learning settings offer enormous potential for assessment. Research innovations, as well as popular models like Khan Academy's¹⁶⁴ adaptive assessment tool, highlight the scope of applications for technology in assessment and self-assessment. Its potential extends to instant statistics, knowledge maps, class data and badges. Further consideration should also be given to how technology can be used to enable the assessment of knowledge and skills not usually distinguished within current curricula – such as collaboration and leadership.

LEARN BY MAKING

Making is an effective way of learning. There is much excitement around mending, mashing, and making with digital tools, making it an area ripe with possibility. Given the relevance of such tools to current trends, it comes as no surprise that a high proportion of the innovations we reviewed concerned the cultivation of digital skills, such as coding and design. Robotic kits, authoring tools, and multimedia production tools are just some examples of the technologies that can support learning through making. To learn effectively through making, careful consideration needs to be given to how the process of making leads to the desired learning outcome. It is important that learners work within appropriately designed environments, using suitable personal devices and flexible web tools to achieve clearly articulated goals.

UPGRADE PRACTISING

Technology has been used to facilitate practice longer than most other learning themes. An immense number of resources are available, but not all types of practice are equally beneficial – and even fewer are making creative use of technology. Practice is most effective when time is spent on rich, challenging problems accompanied by appropriate feedback, rather than misdirected on easy, but ultimately unrewarding, activity. Learners benefit from practice using a variety of multi-modal representations and types of interaction. Adaptive technologies that take advantage of learning analytics can be used to offer problems of appropriate difficulty and provide suitable feedback. However, there is relatively little innovation in this area. The challenge here lies not in identifying technologysupported practice, but determining which ones are most effective, for whom, and in what context. To that extent, further innovation in this area would be welcome.

TURN THE WORLD INTO A LEARNING PLACE

While most learning occurs in school, new digital technologies invite us to break institutional bonds and get learning into the wild. Building effective learning that escapes the traditional constraints of location is not simple, but it is possible – and potentially very beneficial. Technology can link learners with other learners, experiences, and settings much more easily and, often, cost effectively. Connecting learners to other spaces – like labs, workshops, and even the high street – can also offer access to tools and experiences currently unavailable in most school settings. We need to stop thinking of learning taking place in isolation, in schools. Technology can enable schools to tap into the wealth of expertise that exists within their communities. Structural differences between environments must be recognised, as they influence which tools will be effective in which circumstances. Some learning activities will remain most effective when they take place inside a school classroom; but we are a long way from realising the undoubted potential that technology holds to turn the whole world into a learning place.

MAKE LEARNING MORE SOCIAL

Learners have access to an ever-expanding amount of information. However, the role of the teacher in supporting strategies for transforming that information into knowledge should not be underestimated. Technologies that support dialogue between teachers and learners will play an important role in ensuring that online resources are used efficiently and effectively. This can be as simple as using Twitter to engage in live discussion and feedback in the classroom,¹⁶⁵ or through more complex combinations of audio, chat and drawing applications that make personal tutorial significantly more accessible (and affordable) than ever before. Technology can facilitate conversations that can enhance learning – whether they are between teachers and learners, or among learners themselves. Investment is required in technology that enables teachers to organise participative and performative activity; and to create audiences for the outcomes of those activities. A similar need was highlighted in *Learning through Inquiry* – technology can be used to organise forms of inquiry that would be difficult to undertake otherwise due to the number of resources that need to be manipulated.

KEY PRIORITIES FOR TECHNOLOGY IN LEARNING

LINK INDUSTRY, RESEARCH AND PRACTICE

Throughout this report, we have been continually reminded of the significant disconnect between educational technology's key partners – industry, research, teachers and learners. Too often, researchers operate in isolation from the developers whose products grace our schools and homes. This situation makes little sense.

Industry, researchers and teachers need to work closely together to test ideas and evaluate potential innovations *before* they are taken to market. Such a process would benefit industry by providing clear evidence of effectiveness that would potentially boost sales; it would benefit teachers who would have access to better products on the market; and, ultimately, it would benefit learners. To realise this, new channels of communication are needed through which:

- Researchers can get a feed forward from the educational technology industry about what they are developing, the current market needs and the problems to be addressed;
- Industry can get hold of accessible research that addresses the challenges they currently face; and
- Schools and teachers can gain clear and evidence-based guidance on effective uses of technology for learning, and access to the training and resources need to realise it.

Connections need to be made and sustained. Industry organisations, professional bodies, funders and public bodies, including the Departments for Education and Business, Innovation and Skills, can bring together different stakeholders to drive technological innovation in education. Networks can be fostered through events such as TeachMeets¹⁶⁶

and the TechHeads¹⁶⁷ meetups. However, more formal cross-stakeholder networks or dedicated spaces for technological innovation for learning must also be created and supported.

Additionally, we need to develop a consistent and accessible evidence base that can be applied to practice. Much of the research we have reviewed is based on the isolate and analyse tradition. It is rare to find detailed information about contextual factors in research on particular innovations, yet many of the barriers to success relate to the learning context that we considered in Chapter 4. These 'filters' need to be explicitly recognised, reported and addressed by all stakeholders if technology-driven innovation is to produce real benefits.

MAKE BETTER USE OF WHAT WE'VE GOT

Technology-driven innovation is clearly dependent upon access to technology. But the mass distribution of digital tools is not necessarily a precondition to innovation. In fact, at times, an emphasis on hardware may draw the focus away from other potential opportunities.

Initiatives to equip every child with a mobile, laptop or tablet serve a purpose and they are likely to continue where funding and political will are aligned. Yet we must also consider how the existing resources at our disposal can be used more creatively, and effectively. We need to change the mindset amongst teachers and learners: from a 'plug and play' approach where digital tools are used, often in isolation, for a single learning activity; to one of 'think and link' where those tools are used in conjunction with other resources where appropriate, for a variety of learning activities. Teachers have always been highly creative, creating a wide range of resources for learners. As new technologies become increasingly prevalent, they will increasingly need to be able to digitally 'stick and glue'.

To achieve this, teachers will need to develop and share ways of using new technologies – either through informal collaboration or formal professional development. But they cannot be expected to do this alone. They need time and support from school leaders to explore the full potential of the technologies they have at their fingertips as tools for learning. School leaders can further assist teacher development by tapping into the expertise available in the wider community.

CONNECT LEARNING TECHNOLOGIES AND ACTIVITIES

Digital technologies offer opportunities for innovation in teaching but to achieve impact it is important to concentrate on the way technologies can be used by pupils – the learning activities. Linking learning activities and using a variety of technologies and approaches to achieve this gives a far richer experience. Focussing on individual learning activities with single use technologies will not achieve maximum impact.

It is clear technologies that support learning activities can be powerful. But digital tools with apparently single functions are too often used in isolation without linking to support complex, rich learning activities. With a little creativity, learners could use these tools to complete a more fulfilling learning episode rather than a set of discrete learning activities. However, this requires further development of digital tools that can facilitate learning episodes. These would be particularly valuable in stimulating collaborative learning,

promoting learner self-awareness, and enabling teachers to adapt their feedback.

We need more inclusive tools and, more importantly, inclusive ways of using them. Multifunction tools, especially in the themes of collaboration and inquiry, can enhance learning and unlock new types of learning in schools – and out. Likewise, tools that can facilitate and connect different learning activities are greatly needed. There is a considerable incentive for industry to design such tools, but design of such new technologies needs to shift focus towards the variety of possible uses based on research and practice.

CONCLUSION

We looked for proof, potential and promise in digital education.

We found **proof** by putting learning first. We have shown how different technologies can improve learning by augmenting and connecting proven learning activities. This approach gives us a new framework for evaluating future innovations in education.

The numerous examples of good practice identified in this report show that there is also a great deal that can be done with existing technology. It is clear that there is no single technology that is 'best' for learning. We have identified technology being used effectively to support a variety of learning activities and learners across a wide range of subjects and learning environments. Rather, different technologies can be used to support different forms of learning, either individually or in conjunction with others.

There is a growing body of invaluable evidence that demonstrates how technology can be used effectively to support learning. However, if that evidence is going to be useful in practice it needs to address the contexts within which the technology is used; and it needs to be presented in ways that are accessible to industry, teachers and learners.

We found clear **potential** to make better use of technologies that are widely available and that many schools have already purchased. But this potential will only be realised through innovative teaching practice. Teachers may require additional training that enables them to use technologies in new ways.

There is enormous potential for further innovation in digital education. Success will come from commercial developers, researchers, teachers and learners working together to develop, test and spread imaginative new technologies.

We also found many areas of **promise**; that is, areas where technology is currently undervalued and underused. We found relatively little technological innovation in some of the more effective learning themes we considered in Chapter 2. For example, the market is saturated with drill and practice games (particularly for maths) to support *Learning through Practising* despite being regarded as one of the less powerful learning themes. Meanwhile, there has been relatively little technological innovation aimed at supporting *Learning through Assessment* – which can be a powerful aid to teaching and learning.

Over recent decades, many efforts to realise the potential of digital technology in education have made two key errors. Collectively, they have put the **technology above teaching** and **excitement above evidence**. This means they have spent more time, effort

and money looking to find the digital silver bullet that will transform learning than they have into evolving teaching practice to make the most of technology. If we are to make progress we need to clarify the nature of the goal we want to satisfy through future innovation. Much existing teaching practice may well not benefit greatly from new technologies. As we continue to develop our understanding of technology's proof, potential and promise, we have an unprecedented opportunity to improve learning experiences in the classroom and beyond.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: TABLE OF INFORMATION SOURCES

	Source	Description, issues	Locations
A	Opinion, anecdotes, fears, word of mouth	Wikis, blogs, commentaries	Websites, email lists, professional networks and groups (e.g. LinkedIn), newspapers/media
В	Professional journals	What innovative practices are professionals being informed about / invited to take up?	Websites of associates (NCSL, NIACE, ALT, NCETM)
С	Expert think-pieces, attempts at foresight	Expert views, Think tank reviews (e.g. Futurelab, Demos, (JISC, OECD)	Sponsored publications, assume availability through sponsor's website
D	Casestudies and self-reports	Proof of existence. Illuminative. Can multiple case studies be considered as some form of triangulation? Sponsorship bias, one-sidedness of evidence	Publications, websites
Е	Interviews	Structured, semi-structured, unstructured? With individuals or focus groups?	Project reports
F	Surveys, questionnaires	Robustness and publication venue. Sampling, return rates, baseline, question balance	Journals, conference proceedings, theses, etc.
G	Design interventions, comparative studies, RCTs, research prototypes	Structure of underpinning aims and objectives. Methods: testing, scales, observational methods and associated analysis	Journals, conference proceedings, theses, research programmes (e.g. TEL)
н	Meta-reviews, systematic reviews	Authority of publication? Basis of review protocols?	Peer-reviewed literature
I	Policy statements & documents (central/ local government, official bodies)	Policy statements in favour of change, reports and white papers, policy review committees, consultations	Policy websites
J	Commercial marketing materials	Information on products and perceived markets. Future launches?	Company websites, product literature, trade magazines, websites, etc.
К	Grant applications	Sample limited to successful funding applications by necessity	Websites of funding bodies

APPENDIX 2: THE ADAPTIVE COMPARATIVE JUDGEMENT (ACJ) METHOD

METHOD

Our method for comparative judgement of innovations of educational innovation involved several stages.

Firstly, we produced short paragraphs of text that summarised our understanding of a particular case of innovation. The paragraphs of text provided a brief outline of how the case of innovation worked, some idea of the underlying justification provided by the information source that described the innovation (such as an academic journal paper, or a teacher's blog post), and an idea of the resources that needed to be in place if the innovative practice was to be feasible. The following is one example of such a paragraph of text:

This project uses a mobile phone app to help learners navigate around a particular geographical location during History field trips. The underlying idea is that peers are guided to work in teams to explore the location and to relate what they are looking at to content knowledge provided by the mobile device. Constraints include timetabling and fit with the curriculum, and the requirement to create content so that the software can guide learners around an accessible local place.

In total, we produced 150 such paragraphs of text (86 drawn from informal information sources and 64 from the academic literature). Since our own coding of these innovations, in terms of the forms of learning that were evident and how exciting and promising we thought the work was, occurred concurrently with this process we were unable to produce summaries based on particular 'quotas' of types of learning or quality of innovation. Instead, these paragraphs were sampled from across the full range of cases of innovation derived from the research and practitioner literature; later we cross-referenced these cases back to our spread sheets of research and teacher-led innovation cases so that we could produce statistics about how the cases related to the learning themes and to particular learning acts. Some proofreading by team members was utilised to check that the paragraphs were comprehensible and not phrased in ways likely to 'lead' judges. A small sample of ten paragraphs was printed out onto pieces of paper at an early stage of the exercise and used in a small-scale pilot where the judges were postgraduate students from one of our research labs.

Secondly, we worked with a commercial partner to import these paragraphs of text into an existing, online ACJ system, *e-scape*.¹⁶⁸ This tool had been developed to support awarding bodies' work investigating how the ACJ technique could be used to support educational assessment, and so our summaries were entered into the system as different exam 'scripts'. The system would adaptively present pairs of these scripts to judges, as illustrated by the screenshot in Fig. A2.1



Fig. A2.1: Screenshot of the e-scape ACJ system. A judge selects which example of innovation they prefer: A or B.

Thirdly, we recruited an expert panel of judges from a range of specialisms: researchers specialising in technology-enhanced learning, innovative teachers, commercial sector partners and policymakers. Those people who agreed to participate were shown a short help video that explained how to log onto the system and make judgements, and were allocated a unique username and password within the system. Each particular judge was allowed to first make judgements on a 'practice' session so as to familiarise themselves with the interface and the process of making judgements, but was aware that 'practice' judgements would not contribute to our analysis. When they felt ready, judges could log into the 'live' session and make judgements that would contribute to our analysis. Judges were allowed to contribute a maximum of 36 judgements each by the system, and were requested to make at least 20 judgements.

For our final analysis, we note that 48 expert judges made a total of 1,568 judgements (comparisons). Judges made a mean average of 32.6 judgements each (standard deviation 8.83).

Finally, we exported the raw judgement data from e-scape and subjected it to analysis using the *Facets* software¹⁶⁹ that supports many-facet Rasch analysis. Based on all the judgements that had been made in the live session, this software was used to produce the final rank order for the items as well as their corresponding 'parameter' (numeric scores) and 'SE' (the standardised amount of error in how an item had been judged).

RESULTS

The final distribution of items can be represented as in Fig. A2.2. It can be seen that around 14 cases of innovation were judged to be significantly better than all other candidates, that approximately ten were particularly unpopular, and that the innovations ranked between positions 15 and 140 display a gradual decline in parameter score, with some particularly noticeable drops in score around positions 55 and 96.

When considering how these top-ranked cases of innovation relate to the categories of learning that we highlight in this report, it is clear that a broad spectrum of forms of learning were rated highly by our expert judges. *Learning through Making* is the most frequently occurring category, with three appearances in the top 14. Conversely, *Learning through Exploration* appears only once in the table, while *Learning through Practising* does not appear at all. All of our other categories appear twice each.

A clearer picture of the relative popularity of the innovation cases can be obtained by looking at Figs. A2.3 and A2.4. Fig. A2.3 shows that the most popular category *on average* (mean average) was *Learning in and across Settings*, though the standard error bars show that the cases of innovation in this category were less closely clustered than those in many of the other categories. Cases of *Learning through Inquiry* were also popular, while a 'middle tier' consisted of cases from: *Learning from Experts, Learning through Exploring, Learning through Making* and *Learning through Practising*. Cases of *Learning through Understanding Learners* were the least popular within the exercise. Fig. A2.4 shows that, of current cases of innovation in learning that were entered into the ACJ, cases of *Learning with Others* were by far the most numerous.

We can usefully glean some idea of the forms of learning within each theme that judges preferred by expanding the learning themes into their constituent learning activities. Fig. A2.5 provides a summary of this information. The most immediately striking statistic displayed in this table is the comparative unpopularity of assessment, one form taken by *Learning from Assessment*. Cases of innovation that involved assessment were by far the most unpopular in the exercise, and were largely clustered toward the bottom of the ranking. It should be noted that the unpopularity of assessment has had an overall effect on the popularity, in Fig. A2.3, of *Learning from Assessment*; cases of innovation within this category that called upon self-understanding through *reflection* as the primary form of learning were not nearly so unpopular within the exercise.

Among the more popular learning themes, it can be observed that all forms of *Learning through Inquiry* are reasonably popular. The component forms of learning within the *Learning through Making* category, however, exhibit very different levels of popularity: forms of making that involve *construction* (actually creating artefacts) tend to be very popular indeed, while those involving *representing* or *annotating* information are relatively unpopular.

Rank	Script	Parameter score	Standard error	Text	Primary learning theme
1	48	6.803	1.489	This project uses an online portal (I am Creative) to engage secondary and higher education learners with creative challenges set by industry, for example, a challenge to design an advert. The underlying idea is that that the service can engage learners in real-life examples of creative projects. The innovation requires access to the portal, and judges for the work, paid for by the participating industry.	Learning through Inquiry (Problem- focussed)
2	27	5.2823	1.18	This project involves a tool to capture 'lifelogs' of people's capture 'lifelogs' of people's experiences, including pictures, text, and geographical locations taken from their mobile phone, and another tool to prompt later reflection by displaying the information at pre-set intervals. The underlying idea is that different kinds of information display can be used to prompt different kinds of reflection, such as reflection on learning experiences. This innovation requires time to look at and reflect upon information presented.	Learning in and across Settings (Cross- contextual)
3	60	4.8558	0.7819	This project uses a website (Solar StormWatch) for learners to engage with and actively con tribute to real-life science projects, for example, identifying solar storms. The under-lying idea is that contributing to the project will empower learners to engage learners with topical science issues. The innovation requires access (and possibly signing up) to this free website tool.	Learning from Experts (Exposition)
4	71	4.5525	0.7161	This project uses a geo-location game (using Aris) to let secondary-aged learners design and create a game, such as a quest game around the school. The underlying idea is to motivate learners to design a game narrative for for other learners. The innovation requires the game platform, teacher support for understanding how to generate a game, mobile devices and printed QR codes.	Learning through Making (Construction)
5	109	4.4823	0.6953	This project uses an educational robotics kit (HummingBird) to engage secondary-age learners (girls in this case) into programming, for example, by creating artistic, physical designs. The underlying idea is that the tool inspires learners by facilitating more artistic, tangible applications of programming. The innovation requires the educational robotics kit, a nascent understanding of programming and teacher support.	Learning through Making (Construction)
6	74	4.4475	0.6662	This project uses an audio tool (Audacity) and video mixing tool (Moviemaker) for secondary education learners to create visual podcasts summarising learning, for example, a year of global studies in preparation for an exam. The underlying idea is that creating and putting together audio and video media will help learners con- solidate their learning as well as producing a shareable resource for others. The innovation requires access to free online tools, recording equipment and learners' time.	Learning from Assessment (Reflection)
7	113	4.2958	0.6773	This project uses digital cameras and a simple presentation tool (Kidpix) to support learners with learning about changes to the environment, for example, how the woods change over seasons. The underlying idea is that this innovation encourages learners to focus upon the environment and use technology to record, compare and comment on changes. The innovation requires a camera and software, travel to a local wood, and teacher guidance to encourage reflection.	Learning from Assessment (Reflection)
8	132	4.1412	0.6636	This project uses a very large display technology (Multi- Slides), where information in a PowerPoint file is projected over multiple walls within a classroom, to support richer	Learning from Experts (Tutorial)

Rank	Script	Parameter score	Standard error	Text	Primary learning theme
				forms of discussion in university small-group teaching. The underlying idea is that the teacher presents a particular argument about some materials (e.g. images of of historical artefacts) but provides sufficient information around the walls for students to construct alternative explanations, so encouraging debate. The innovation requires the presentation tool to have been installed within a seminar room and a confident teacher who can respond positively when their argument is challenged.	
9	59	4.1167	0.719	This project uses an online writing tool (Boomwriter) for primary- aged learners to build a collaborative story, for example, by assessing which chapter written by peers to include. The underlying idea is that this tool provides a way to engage learners in writing and to manage blind peer evaluation. The innovation requires access to the tool and teacher time to set up the story and decide the number of chapters, as well as peer time to read and vote.	Learning with Others (Participative)
10	118	4.0388	0.9976	This project uses digitally augmented plastic blocks (Electronic Blocks) to let pre-school children explore basic electronic ideas, for example, attaching sensor blocks to an action block (e.g. a light). The idea is that this tool facilitates interaction and engagement, making important ideas accessible for younger learners. The innovation requires learners to have access to the prototype technology.	Learning through Exploring (Ludic)
11	26	3.8589	0.9716	This project uses special software on laptops to support learners with autism and teachers working together to create visual representations of the activities they are going to undertake in the classroom. The underlying idea is to provide special support to learners, who may have problems understanding, structuring and predicting activities, while also involving them in the creation of visual representations to support their understanding. This innovation requires time of the teacher and learners as well as support for learning this particular tool.	Learning from Experts (Tutorial)
12	105	3.8557	0.6326	This project uses a week-long workshop with businesses and volunteers to develop learners' (under 18) programming skills through making, for example, digital products such as a mobile application. The underlying idea is that the workshop engages learners by providing access to tools and local expertise to build personal projects. The innovation requires free programming tools, rudimentary programming ability physical space from local businesses, volunteer time and expertise.	Learning through Making (Construction)
13	15	3.6354	0.6806	This project uses a mobile phone app to help learners navigate around a particular geographical location during History field trips. The underlying idea is that peers are guided to work in teams to explore the location and to relate what they are looking at to content knowledge provided by the mobile device. Constraints include timetabling and fit with the curriculum, and the requirement to create content so that the software can guide learners around an accessible local place.	Learning in and across Settings (Cross- contextual)
14	152	3.6297	0.9263	This project uses a computer based problem solving environment based around drawing activities to motivate high school-aged learners who are beginning to learn programming, for example, learning the 'C' prog ramming language. The underlying idea is that the tool adopts a holistic approach, providing representations, meaningful activities in a drawing context, and feedback. The innovation requires the tool to be made available to learners.	Learning through Inquiry (Problem- focussed)



Fig A2.2: Parameter score vs. item rank. Bars show standard error.



MEAN RANK IN ACJ BY THEME

Learning Theme

Fig. A2.3: Mean parameter score vs. learning theme. Bars show standard error.



NUMBER OF INNOVATIONS IN ACJ BY THEME

Fig. A2.4: Number of cases by learning theme.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abrahamson, D., Trninic, D., Gutiérrez, J.F., Huth, J. and Lee, R.G. (2011) Hooks and shifts: a dialectical study of mediated discovery. 'Technology, Knowledge and Learning.' pp.1–31.

Ainsworth, S. (2008) The educational value of multiple representations when learning complex scientific concepts. In J.K. Gilbert, M. Reiner and M. Nakhlel (Eds) 'Visualization: Theory and Practice in Science Education.' pp.91–208. Berlin: Springer.

Alavi, H.S. and Dillenbourg, P. (2011) 'Supporting Collaborative Learning in Recitation Sections Using an Ambient Awareness Tool.' Paper presented at the CSCL, Hong Kong, China.

Alvarez, C., Milrad, M. and Nussbaum, M. (2010) CollBoard: Supporting New Media Literacies and Collaborative Learning Using Digital Pens and Interactive Whiteboards. In S. L. Wong et al. (Eds) 'Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Computers in Education.' Putrajaya, Malaysia, pp.368–375.

Anastopoulou, S., Sharples, M., Ainsworth, S., Crook, C., O'Malley, C. and Wright, M. (2012) Creating personal meaning through technology-supported science inquiry learning across formal and informal settings. 'International Journal of Science Education.' 34(2), pp.251–273.

Andrews, C., Endert, A. and North, C. (2010) Space to think: large high-resolution displays for sensemaking. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.55–64. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Antle, A.N., Droumeva, M. and Corness, G. (2008) 'Playing with The Sound Maker: Do embodied metaphors help children learn?' Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 7th international conference on Interaction design and children.

Arroyo E., Righi V., Tarrago R., Santos P., Hernandez-Leo D. and Blat, J. (2011) Remote Collaborative Multi-User Informal Learning Experiences: Design and Evaluation. In 'Proceedings of the Sixth European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning EC-TEL.' Palermo, Italy.

Balaam, M. (2009) 'Exploring the Emotional Experiences of High School Students with a Subtle Stone Technology.' Unpublished PhD thesis. University of Sussex.

Balaam, M., Fitzpatrick, G., Good, J. and Luckin, R. (2010) Exploring affective technologies for the classroom with the Subtle Stone. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.1623–1632. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Bamberger, J. and Hernandez, A. (1999) 'Impromptu: An interactive software application.' New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
Bao, P., Gerber, E., Gergle, D. and Hoffman, D. (2010) Momentum: getting and staying on topic during a brainstorm. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.1233–1236. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Barkhuus, L. and Tashiro, J. (2010) Student socialization in the age of Facebook. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.133–142. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Baumer, E.P.S., Sinclair, J. and Tomlinson, B. (2010) America is like Metamucil: fostering critical and creative thinking about metaphor in political blogs. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10-15, 2010. pp.1437-1446. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Beevers, C. (2010) 'What can e-assessment do for Learning and Teaching?' Edinburgh: The E-Assessment Association (eAA).

Bennett, K.R. and Cunningham, A.C. (2009) Teaching Formative Assessment Strategies to Preservice Teachers: Exploring the Use of Handheld Computing to Facilitate the Action Research Process. 'Journal of Computing in Teacher Education.' 25, pp.99–105.

Berlanga, A.J., van Rosmalen, P., Boshuizen, H.P.A. and Sloep, P.B. (2010) Exploring formative feedback on textual assignments with the help of automatically created visual representations. 'Journal of Computer Assisted Learning.' 28, pp.146–160.

Bligh, B. and Sharples, M. (2010) Affordances of Presentations in Multi-Display Learning Spaces for Supporting Small Group Discussion. In M. Wolpers, P.A. Kirschner, M. Scheffell, S. Lindstaedt and V. Dimitrova (Eds) 'Sustaining TEL: From Innovation to Learning and Practice: Proceedings of 5th European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning.' pp.464–469. LNCS 6383. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

Bloom, B.S. (1984) The 2 Sigma Problem: The Search for Methods of Group Instruction as Effective as One-to-One Tutoring. 'Educational Researcher.' Vol. 13, No. 6, pp.4-16.

Bottino, R. and Ott, M. (2012) Game-based learning. In N. Balacheff, J. Bourdeau, P. Kirschner and R. Sutherland (Eds) 'The TEL Thesaurus and Dictionary meta-project.' Available online at: http://www.tel-thesaurus.net/wiki/index.php/Game-based_learning

Branham, S., Golovchinsky, G., Carter, S. and Biehl, J.T. (2010) Let's go from the whiteboard: supporting transitions in work through whiteboard capture and reuse. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.75–84. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Brooks, D.C. (2011) Space Matters: The Impact of Formal Learning Environments on Student Learning. 'British Journal of Educational Technology.' Vol. 42, No. 5, pp.719-726.

Brusilovsky, P., Hsiao, I.H. and Folajimi, Y. (2011) QuizMap: open social student modeling and adaptive navigation support with TreeMaps. 'Towards Ubiquitous Learning.' pp.71-82.

Bull, S. and Kay, J. (2007) Student Models that Invite the Learner In: The SMILI :-) Open Learner Modelling Framework. 'International Journal of Artificial Intelligence in Education.' 17, pp.89–120.

Burd, L. (2008) 'SynergyNet: Supporting Collaborative Learning in an Immersive Environment.' ESRC Grant application RES-139-25-0400.

Cassidy, G. (2011) 'Music-Games: Supporting New Opportunities for Music Education.' EPSRC Grant Application. See http://gow.epsrc.ac.uk/NGBOViewGrant.aspx?GrantRef=EP/I00680X/1

Chen, T., Chang, C.S., Lin, J.S. and Yu, H.L. (2009) Context-aware writing in ubiquitous learning environments. 'Research and Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning.' Vol. 4, No. 1, pp.61–82.

Chi, C., Zhou, M.X., Yang, M., Xiao, W., Yu, Y. and Sun, X. (2010) Dandelion: supporting coordinated, collaborative authoring in Wikis. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.1199–1202. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Chu, H-C., Hwang, G-J. and Tsai, C-C. (2010) A knowledge engineering approach to developing mindtools for context-aware ubiquitous learning. 'Computers & Education.' 54(1), pp.289–297.

Crook, C., Fisher, T., Harrop, H. and Stokes, E. (2010) 'Harnessing Technology: new modes of technology-enhanced learning: developing successful practice.' British Educational Communications and Technology Agency (BECTA). Accessed on 02/11/12 at http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/1535/

de Freitas, S. (2006) 'Learning in Immersive worlds: A review of game-based learning.' Available from: www.jisc.ac.uk/media/documents/programmes/elearninginnovation/gamingreport_v3.pdf

de Jong, T. (2012) Inquiry learning. In N. Balacheff, J. Bourdeau, P. Kirschner and R. Sutherland (Eds) 'The TEL Thesaurus and Dictionary meta-project.' Available online at: http://www.tel-thesaurus.net/ wiki/index.php/Inquiry_learning

de Jong, T., van Joolingen, W.R., Giemza, A., Girault, I., Hoppe, U., Kindermann, J., Kluge, A., Lazonder, A.W., Vold, V., Weinberger, A., Weinbrenner, S., Wichmann, A., Anjewierden, A., Bodin, M., Bollen, L., D'Ham, C., Dolonen, J., Engler, J., Geraedts, C., Grosskreutz, H., Hovardas, T., Julien, R., Lechner, J., Ludvigsen, S., Matteman, Y., Meistadt, Ø., Næss, B., Ney, M., Pedaste, M., Perritano, A., Rinket, M., von Schlanbusch, H., Sarapuu, T., Schulz, F., Sikken, J., Slotta, J., Toussaint, J., Verkade, A., Wajeman, C., Wasson, B., Zacharia, Z.C. and van der Zanden, M. (2010) Learning by creating and exchanging objects: The SCY experience. 'British Journal of Educational Technology.' 41(6), pp.909–921.

de Smet, M.J.R., Broekkamp, H., Brand-Gruwel, S. and Kirschner, P.A. (2011) Effects of electronic outlining on students' argumentative writing performance. 'Journal of Computer Assisted Learning.' 27, pp.557–574.

De-Marcos, L., Hilera, J., Barchino., R., Jimenez, L., Martinez, J., Gutierrez, J.A., Gutierrez, J.M. and Oton, S. (2010) An experiment for improving students' performance in secondary and tertiary education by means of m-learning auto-assessment. 'Computers & Education.' 55, pp.1069-1079.

Desmarais, M.C. (2012) Educational data mining. In N. Balacheff, J. Bourdeau, P. Kirschner and R. Sutherland (Eds) 'The TEL Thesaurus and Dictionary meta-project.' Available online at: http://www.tel-thesaurus.net/wiki/index.php/Educational_data_mining

Dillenbourg, P. (2012) Collaboration script. In N. Balacheff, J. Bourdeau, P. Kirschner and R. Sutherland (Eds) 'The TEL Thesaurus and Dictionary meta-project.' Available online at: http://www.tel-thesaurus. net/wiki/index.php/Collaboration_script

Dixon, D., Prasad, M. and Hammond, T. (2010) iCanDraw: using sketch recognition and corrective feedback to assist a user in drawing human faces. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10-15, 2010. pp.897–906. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Dorn, B. and Guzdial, M. (2010) Learning on the job: characterizing the programming knowledge and learning strategies of web designers. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.703–712. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Eisenberg, M. (2003) Mindstuff: educational technology beyond the computer. 'Convergence.' 9:2, pp.29–53.

Elliott, B. (2007) 'Assessment 2.0: Assessment in the age of web 2.0.' Scottish Qualifications Authority [Online], 28.

Enyedy, N., Danish, J.A., Delacruz, G., Kumar, M. and Gentile, S. (2011) Play and augmented reality in learning physics: the SPASES project. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I, pp.216–223. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Eow, Y.L., Ali, W.Z.b.W., Mahmud, R.b. and Baki, R. (2010) Computer games development and appreciative learning approach in enhancing students' creative perception. 'Computers & Education.' 54(1), pp.146-161.

Facer, K., Joiner, R., Stanton, D., Reid, J., Hull., R. and Kirk, D. (2004) Savannah: mobile gaming and learning? 'Journal of Computer Assisted Learning.' 20, pp.399-409.

Faridani, S., Bitton, E., Ryokai, K. and Goldberg, K. (2010) Opinion space: a scalable tool for browsing online comments. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.1175–1184. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Ferguson, R. (2012) 'The State Of Learning Analytics in 2012: A Review and Future Challenges.' Technical Report KMI-12-01, Knowledge Media Institute, The Open University, UK. Available from: http://kmi.open.ac.uk/publications/techreport/kmi-12-01

Fischer, S. and Schwan, S. (2010) Comprehending animations: Effects of spatial cueing versus temporal scaling. 'Learning and Instruction.' 20(6), pp.465-475.

Fischer, U., Moeller, K., Bientzle, M., Cress, U. and Nuerk, H.-C. (2011) Sensori-motor spatial training of number magnitude representation. 'Psychonomic Bulletin & Review.' 18, pp.177-183.

FutureLab (2010) 'New Assessment Scenarios' Report. December, 2010. Available from: http://www. futurelab.org.uk/sites/default/files/New_assessment_scenarios.pdf

Good, J. (2007) 'Authoring as acting: exploring embodied interaction in game authoring environments for children.' ESRC Grant Application RES-139-25-0338.

Goulding M. and Kyriacou, C. (2008) A systematic review of the use of ICTs in developing pupils' understanding of algebraic ideas. Technical report. In: 'Research Evidence in Education Library.' London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London

Grant, L. (2009) 'Children's role in home-school relationships and the role of digital technologies.' FutureLab.

Grant, L. (2011) I'm a completely different person at home: using digital technologies to connect learning between home and school. 'Journal of Computer Assisted Learning.' 27(4), pp.292–302.

Greene, J.A., Bolick, C.M. and Robertson, J. (2010) Fostering historical knowledge and thinking skills using hypermedia learning environments: The role of self-regulated learning. 'Computers & Education.' 54(1), pp.230-243.

Grubb, W. and Lazerson, M. (2006) The globalization of rhetoric and practice: The education gospel and vocationalism. In H. Lauder, P. Brown, J. Dillabough and A. Halsey (Eds) 'Education, globalization and social change.' pp.295–307. New York: Oxford University Press.

Habgood, M.P.J. and Ainsworth, S.E. (2011) Motivating children to learn effectively: Exploring the value of intrinsic integration in educational games. 'Journal of the Learning Sciences.' 20 (2), pp.169-206.

Haller, M., Leitner, J., Seifried, T., Wallace, J.R., Scott, S.D., Richter, C., Brandl, P., Gokcezade, A. and Hunter, S. (2010) The NiCE discussion room: integrating paper and digital media to support colocated group meetings. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.609–618. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Harel, I. and Papert, S. (1991) (Eds) 'Constructionism.' pp.269-394. New Jersey: Ablex Publishing Corporation.

Harlen, W. and Deakin Crick, R. (2003) A systematic review of the impact on students and teachers of the use of ICT for assessment of creative and critical thinking skills. In: 'Research Evidence in Education Library.' London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

Hartmann, B., MacDougall, D., Brandt, J. and Klemmer, S.R. (2010) What would other programmers do: suggesting solutions to error messages. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.1019–1028. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Hatch, A., Higgins, S., Joyce–Gibbons, A. and Mercier, E. (2011) NumberNet: using multi-touch technology to support within and between-group mathematics learning. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning, Conference Proceedings Volume I.' pp.176–183. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Heilesen, S.B. (2010) What is the academic efficacy of podcasting? 'Computers & Education.' 55(3), pp.1063-1068.

Hennessy, S. (2011) The role of digital artefacts on the interactive whiteboard in supporting classroom dialogue. 'Journal of Computer Assisted Learning.' 27:463–489.

Hoggan, E. and Brewster, S.A. (2010) Crosstrainer: testing the use of multimodal interfaces in situ. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10-15, 2010. pp.333-342. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Howison, M., Trninic, D., Reinholz, D. and Abrahamson, D. (2011) The Mathematical Imagery Trainer: From Embodied Interaction to Conceptual Learning. In G. Fitzpatrick, C. Gutwin, B. Begole, W.A. Kellogg and D. Tan (Eds) 'Proceedings of the annual meeting of CHI: ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI 2011).' Vancouver, May 7-12, 2011. Vol. "Full Papers", pp.1989-1998.

Huang, K., Starner, T., Do, E., Weiberg, G., Kohlsdorf, D., Ahlrichs, C. and Leibrandt, R. (2010) Mobile music touch: mobile tactile stimulation for passive learning. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10-15, 2010. pp.791-800. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Jacucci., G., Morrison., A., Richard., G.T., Kleimola, J., Peltonen., P., Parisi., L. and Laitinen, T. (2010) Worlds of information: designing for engagement at a public multi-touch display. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.2267– 2276. New York, NY: ACM Press.

James, S. (2010) 'Review of Education Capital.' London: Department for Education. Available at: https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/standard/AbouttheDepartment/Page1/DFE-00073-2011

Jewitt, C., Hadjithoma-Garstka, C., Clark, W., Banaji, S. and Selwyn, N. (2010) 'School use of learning platforms and associated technologies.' Coventry: Institute of Education.

JISC (2009) Final Report Ridgway (Project Team Member), Robert Harding (QA), Hakan Redif (Project Manager) March 2009 Filename RAeAT Final Report General project information and a list of e-Assessment projects listed on: http://www.dur.ac.uk/smart.centre1/aeac

JISC (2010b) Available at: http://www.jisc.ac.uk/whatwedo/programmes/elearning/ltig/afal.aspx. 2010

JISC (2010a) Available at: http://www.jisc.ac.uk/whatwedo/programmes/elearning/ curriculumdelivery/makingassessmentcount.aspx 2010

Johansson, C., Ahmet, Z., Tholander, J., Aleo, F., Jonsoon, M. and Sumon, S. (2011) Weather gods and fruit kids – embodying abstract concepts using tactile feedback and whole body interaction. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.160–167. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Johnson, J., Chapman, C. and Dyer, J. (2004) Pedagogy and innovation in education with digital technologies. In A. Méndez-Vilas, A. Solano Martín, J.A. Mesa González and J. Mesa González (Eds) 'Current Developments in Technology-Assisted Education.' Volume 1: General Issues, Pedagogical Issues. pp. 135–139. Bandajoz: Formatex.

Johnson, L., Adams, S. and Cummins, M. (2012a) 'NMC Horizon Report: 2012 K-12 Edition.' Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium. Johnson, L., Adams, S. and Cummins, M. (2012b) 'NMC Horizon Report: 2012 Higher Education Edition.' Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium.

Johnson, L., Adams, S. and Haywood, K. (2011) 'The NMC Horizon Report: 2011 K-12 Edition.' Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium.

Johnson, L., Adams, S. and Witchey, H. (2011) 'The NMC Horizon Report: 2011 Museum Edition.' Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium.

Johnson, L., Smith, R., Willis, H., Levine, A. and Haywood, K. (2011) 'The 2011 Horizon Report.' Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium.

Joseph, S.R.H., Watanabe, Y., Shiung, Y-J. and Robbins, C. (2009) Key aspects of computer assisted vocabulary learning (CAVL): combined effects of media, sequencing and task type. 'Research and Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning.' 4(2), pp.133–168.

Kalnikaite, V., Sellen., A., Whittaker., S. and Kirk, D. (2010) Now let me see where I was: understanding how lifelogs mediate memory. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10-15, 2010. pp.2045-2054. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Karemaker, A., Pitchford, N.J. and O'Malley, C. (2010) Enhanced recognition of written words and enjoyment of reading in struggling beginner readers through whole-word multimedia software. 'Computers & Education.' 54(1), pp.199-208.

Kebritchi, M., Hirumi, A. and Bai, H. (2010) The effects of modern mathematics computer games on mathematics achievement and class motivation. 'Computers & Education.' 55, p.427-443.

Kember, D., McNaught, C., Chong, F.C.Y., Lam, P. and Cheng, K. (2010) Understanding the ways in which design features of educational websites impact upon student learning outcomes in blended learning environments. 'Computers & Education.' 55(3), pp.1183–1192.

Kong, S.C. (2010) Using a web-enabled video system to support student-teachers' self-reflection in teaching practice. 'Computers & Education.' 55 (2010), pp.1772–1782.

Kordaki, M. (2010) A drawing and multi-representational computer environment for beginners' learning of programming using C: Design and pilot formative evaluation. 'Computers & Education.' 54(1), pp.69–87.

Lanir, J., Booth, K.S. and Hawkey, K. (2010) The benefits of more electronic screen space on students' retention of material in classroom lectures. 'Computers & Education.' 55(2), pp.892–903.

Lazakidou, G. and Retalis, S. (2010) Using computer supported collaborative learning strategies for helping students acquire self-regulated problem-solving skills in mathematics. 'Computers & Education.' 54(1), pp.3–13.

Lazonder, A.W., Hagemans, M.G. and de Jong, T. (2010) Offering and discovering domain information in simulation-based inquiry learning. 'Learning and Instruction.' 20(6), pp.511–520.

Lewin, C. and Luckin, R. (2010) Technology to support parental engagement in elementary education: Lessons learned from the UK. 'Computers & Education.' 54(3), pp.749–758.

Liang, H-N. and Sedig, K. (2010) Can interactive visualization tools engage and support pre-university students in exploring non-trivial mathematical concepts? 'Computers & Education.' 54(4), pp.972-991.

Liaw, S-S., Hatala, M. and Huang, H-M. (2010) Investigating acceptance toward mobile learning to assist individual knowledge management: Based on activity theory approach. 'Computers & Education.' 54(2), pp.446-454.

Lin, C-P., Wong, L-H. and Shao, Y-J. (2011) Comparison of 1:1 and 1:m CSCL environment for collaborative concept mapping. 'Journal of Computer Assisted Learning. 27, pp.99-113.

Lindley, S.E., Harper, R. and Sellen, A. (2010) Designing a technological playground: a field study of the emergence of play in household messaging. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10-15, 2010. pp.2351–2360. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Loll, F. and Pinkwart, N. (2011) Guiding the process of argumentation: the effects of ontology and collaboration. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.296–303. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Looi, C-K., Chen, W. and Ng, F-K. (2010) Collaborative activities enabled by GroupScribbles (GS): An exploratory study of learning effectiveness. 'Computers & Education.' 54(1), pp.14–26.

Looi, C-K., Zhang, B., Chen, W., Seow, P., Chia, G., Norris, C. and Soloway, E. (2011) 1:1 mobile inquiry learning experience for primary science students: a study of learning effectiveness. 'Journal of Computer Assisted Learning.' 27, pp.269–287.

Lopez, O.S. (2010) The Digital Learning Classroom: Improving English Language learners' academic success in mathematics and reading using interactive whiteboard technology. 'Computers & Education.' 54(4), pp.901–915.

Luckin, R. (2008) The Learner Centric Ecology of Resources: a Framework for using Technology to Scaffold Learning. 'Computers & Education.' 50, pp.449–462.

Luckin, R. (2010) 'Re-designing Learning Contexts: Technology-rich, learner-centred ecologies.' Oxford and New York, NY: Routledge.

Luckin, R., Clark, W., Garnett, F., Whitworth, A., Akass, J., Cook, J. et al. (2010) Learner-Generated Contexts: A Framework to Support the Effective Use of Technology for Learning. In M.J.W. Lee and C. McLoughlin (Eds) 'Web 2.0-Based E-Learning: Applying Social Informatics for Tertiary Teaching.' pp.70-84.

Luckin, R., Logan, K., Clark, W., Graber, R., Oliver, M. and Mee, A. (2008) 'KS3 and KS4 learners' use of Web 2.0 technologies in and out of school – Summary.' Coventry: Becta.

Macfadyen, L.P. and Dawson, S. (2010) Mining LMS data to develop an "early warning system" for educators: A proof of concept. 'Computers & Education.' 54(2), pp.588–599.

Manches, A., O'Malley, C. and Benford, S. (2010) The role of physical representations in solving number problems: A comparison of young children's use of physical and virtual materials. 'Computers & Education.' 54(3), pp.622-640.

Manches, A. and O'Malley, C. (2012) Tangibles for learning: a representational analysis of physical manipulation. 'Personal and Ubiquitous Computing.' 16(4), pp.405–419.

Mayer, R.E., Hegarty, M., Mayer, S. and Campbell, J. (2005) When static media promote active learning: annotated illustrations versus narrated animations in multimedia instruction. 'Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied.' 11(4), p.256.

Méndez, J.A. and González, E.J. (2010) A reactive blended learning proposal for an introductory control engineering course. 'Computers & Education.' 54(4), pp.856-865.

Moher, T., Hussain, S., Halter, T. and Kilb, D. (2005) Roomquake: Embedding dynamic phenomena within the physical space of an elementary school classroom. In W. Kellogg, S. Zhai, G. van der Veer and C. Gale (Eds) 'CHI 2005: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems.' Portland, OR, USA – April 02–07, 2005. pp.1665–1668. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Moraveji, N., Ahmad, S., Kita, C., Chen, F. and Kamvar, S. (2011) Weblines: enabling the social transfer of web search expertise using user-generated short-form timelines. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.112-119. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Mu, X. (2010) Towards effective video annotation: An approach to automatically link notes with video content. 'Computers & Education.' 55, pp.1752–1763.

National Science Foundation (2000) 'Inquiry: Thoughts, Views, and Strategies for the K-5 Classroom. Foundations: A monograph for professionals in science, mathematics and technology education.' 2, pp.1-120. Available online at: http://www.nsf.gov/pubs/2000/nsf99148/htmstart.htm

Naudé, K.A., Greyling, J.H. and Vogts, D. (2010) Marking student programs using graph similarity. 'Computers & Education.' 54(2), pp.545-561.

Noguchi, D., Seta, K., Fujiwara, M. and Ikeda, M. (2010) Presentation Based Learning Support System to Facilitate Meta-Learning Communications. In: S.L. Wong et al. (Eds) 'Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Computers in Education.' Putrajaya, Malaysia, pp.137-144.

O'Malley, C. and Stanton Fraser, D. (2004) 'Literature Review in Learning with Tangible Technologies.' Technical Report 12. NESTA Futurelab. Available from: hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/docs/00/19/03/28/ PDF/Claire-OMalley-2004.pdf

OECD (1996) 'The Knowledge-Based Economy.' Paris: OECD.

Pachler, N., Mellar, H., Daly, C., Mor, Y. and William, D. (2009) 'Scoping a vision for formative eassessment.' London: WLE Centre, Institute of Education.

Phielix, C., Prins, F., Janssen, J. and Kirschner, P. (2011) Using a Reflection Tool to Increase Reliability of Peer Assessments in a CSCL Environment. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.326-333. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Pollitt, A. (2012) The method of Adaptive Comparative Judgement. 'Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice.' 19(3), pp.281-300.

Priestley, M. and Humes, W. (2010) The development of Scotland's Curriculum for Excellence: amnesia and déjà vu. 'Oxford Review of Education.' 36(3), pp.345–361.

Raffle, H., Ballagas, R., Revelle, G., Horii, H., Follmer, S., Go, J. et al. (2010) Family story play: reading with young children (and Elmo) over a distance. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10-15, 2010. pp.1583–1592. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Resnick, M., Martin, F., Berg, R., Borovoy, R., Colella, V., Kramer, K. et al. (1998) 'Digital manipulatives: new toys to think with.' Paper presented at the CHI'98 conference on human factors in computing systems, Los Angeles, California, United States.

Ripley, M. (2007) 'E-assessment - an update on research, policy and practice.' Bristol: Futurelab.

Robertson, J. (2006) 'Supporting creativity in computer game authoring.' EPSRC Grant Application, see http://gow.epsrc.ac.uk/NGBOViewGrant.aspx?GrantRef=EP/D064546/2

Rogers, Y., Scaife, M., Gabrielli, S., Smith, H. and Harris, E. (2002) A conceptual framework for mixed reality environments: Designing novel learning activities for young children. 'Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments.' 11(6), pp.677–686.

Ruchter, M., Klar, B. and Geiger, W. (2010) Comparing the effects of mobile computers and traditional approaches in environmental education. 'Computers & Education.' 54(4), pp.1054-1067.

Saerbeck, M., Schut, T., Bartneck, C. and Janse, M.D. (2010) 'Expressive robots in education: varying the degree of social supportive behavior of a robotic tutor.' Proceedings of the 28th ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI2010), Atlanta, pp.1613–1622.

Schmidt-Weigand, F., Kohnert, A. and Glowalla, U. (2010) A closer look at split visual attention in system-and self-paced instruction in multimedia learning. 'Learning and Instruction.' 20(2), pp.100-110.

Schnaubert, L., Andres, E., Narciss, S., Eichelmann, A., Goguadze, G. and Melis , E. (2011) Student Behavior in Error-Correction-Tasks and Its Relation to Perception of Competence. In C. Delago Kloos, D. Gillet, R. Crespo Garcia, F. Wild, and M. Wolpers (Eds) 'Towards Ubiquitous Learning, Proceedings of the 6th European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning.' pp.370–383. Berlin: Springer.

Seedhouse, P. and Oliver, P. (2010) 'Language Learning in the Wild.' EPSRC Grant Application, see http://gow.epsrc.ac.uk/NGBOViewGrant.aspx?GrantRef=EP/H043012/1

Shaffer, D.W. (2006) Epistemic frames for epistemic games. 'Computers & Education.' 46(3), pp.223-234.

Sharples, M. (2007) 'Personal Inquiry (PI): Designing for Evidence-based Inquiry Learning across Formal and Informal Settings.' ESRC Grant RES-139-25-0382.

Sharples, M. (2012) Mobile learning. In N. Balacheff, J. Bourdeau, P. Kirschner and R. Sutherland (Eds) 'The TEL Thesaurus and Dictionary meta-project.' Available online at: http://www.tel-thesaurus.net/ wiki/index.php/Mobile_learning Sharples, M., Taylor, J. and Vavoula, G. (2007) A Theory of Learning for the Mobile Age. In R. Andrews and C. Haythornthwaite (Eds) 'The Sage Handbook of E-learning Research.' pp.221-247. London: Sage.

Skinner, B.F. (1958) Teaching machines. 'Science.' (128) pp.969-77.

Smith, F., Hardman, F. and Higgins, S. (2006) The impact of interactive whiteboards on teacher-pupil interaction in the National Literacy and Numeracy Strategies. 'British Educational Research Journal.' 32(03), pp.443-457.

SQA (2007) 'E-assessment: Guide to effective practice.' Glasgow: Scottish Qualifications Authority.

Steffens, K. (2012) Self-regulated learning. In N. Balacheff, J. Bourdeau, P. Kirschner and R. Sutherland (Eds) 'The TEL Thesaurus and Dictionary meta-project.' Available online at: http://www.tel-thesaurus. net/wiki/index.php/Self-regulated_learning

Stonier, T. and Conlin, C. (1985) 'The three C's: children, computers and communication.' London: Wiley.

Tamim, R., Bernard, R.M., Borokhovski, E., Abrami, P.C. and Schmid, R.F. (2011) What forty years of research says about the impact of technology on learning: A second-order meta-analysis and validation study. 'Review of Educational Research.' 81(1), pp.4–28.

Tan, E. and So, H-J. (2011) Location-based collaborative learning at a geography trail: examining the relationship among task design, facilitation and discourse types. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.41-48. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Thorndike, E. (1922) 'The Psychology of Arithmetic.' New York: Macmillan.

Tian, F., Lv, F., Wang, J., Wang, H., Luo, W., Kam, M., Setlur, V., Dai, G. and Canny, J. (2010) Let's play Chinese characters: mobile learning approaches via culturally inspired group games. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10-15, 2010. pp.1603– 1612. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Trundle, K.C. and Bell, R.L. (2010) The use of a computer simulation to promote conceptual change: A quasi-experimental study. 'Computers & Education.' 54(4), pp.1078-1088.

van den Akker, J. (2007) Curriculum Design Research. In T. Plomp and N. Nieveen (Eds) 'An Introduction to Educational Design Research.' pp. 37–52. Enschede: Netherlands Institute for Curriculum Development.

Vygotsky, L. (1978) 'Mind in Society: The development of higher psychological processes.' Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Wake, J.D., Guribye, F. and Wasson, B. (2011) The interactional organisation of location-based gaming. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.136–143. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences. Walker, E., Rummel, N. and Koedinger, K. (2011) Adaptive Support for CSCL: Is it Feedback Relevance or Increased Student Accountability that Matters? In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.334-341. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Waller, A. (2010) 'How was School Today...?' EPSRC Grant Application, see http://gow.epsrc.ac.uk/ NGBOViewGrant.aspx?GrantRef=EP/H022570/1

Walsh, G. and Golbeck, J. (2010) Curator: a game with a purpose for collective recommendation. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.2079–2082. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Wang, A.C-Y., Chen, C-H., Wu, C-J., Chi, Y-L., Lee, J-H. and Chen, G-D. (2010) Constructing a Digital Authentic Learning Playground by a Mixed Reality Platform and a Robot. In S. Wong, S.C. Kong and F-Y. Yu (Eds) 'Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Computers in Education.' December 3, 2010, Putrajaya, Malaysia. pp.121-128. Selangor: Universiti Putra Malaysia .

Wang, T-H. (2010) Web-based dynamic assessment: Taking assessment as teaching and learning strategy for improving students' e-Learning effectiveness. 'Computers & Education.' 54(4), pp.1157-1166.

Watson, G., Butterfield, J., Curran, R. and Craig, C. (2010) Do dynamic work instructions provide an advantage over static instructions in a small scale assembly task? 'Learning and Instruction.' 20(1), pp.84–93.

Wegerif, R., McLaren, B.M., Chamrada, M., Scheuer, O., Mansour, N., Miksátko, J. and Williams, M. (2010) Exploring creative thinking in graphically mediated synchronous dialogues. 'Computers & Education.' 54(3), pp.613–621.

Wellington, J. (2005) Has ICT come of age? Recurring debates on the role of ICT in education. 'Research in Science and Technological Education.' 23(1), pp.25-39.

Wieling, M. and Hofman, W. (2010) The impact of online video lecture recordings and automated feedback on student performance. 'Computers & Education.' 54(4), pp.992–998.

Winkley, J. (2010) 'E-assessment and innovation. Emerging Technologies.' Coventry: Becta.

Wise, A. and Chiu, M.M. (2011) Knowledge construction patterns in online conversation: a statistical discourse analysis of a role-based discussion forum. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.64–71. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Wishart, J. and Triggs, P. (2010) MuseumScouts: Exploring how schools, museums and interactive technologies can work together to support learning. 'Computers & Education.' 54(3), pp.669–678.

Wong, L-H., Chin, C-K., Tan, C-L., Liu, M. and Zhan, Y. (2010) Analysis of the Learner Content Creation Process in a 1:1 Seamless Idiom Learning Environment. In S. Wong, S.C. Kong and F-Y. Yu (Eds) 'Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Computers in Education.' December 3, 2010, Putrajaya, Malaysia. pp.352–358. Selangor: Universiti Putra Malaysia. Wood, C., Jackson, E., Hart, L., Plester, B. and Wilde, L. (2011) The effect of text messaging on 9-and 10-year-old children's reading, spelling and phonological processing skills. 'Journal of Computer Assisted Learning.' 27: 28-36.

Wood, C., Pillinger, C. and Jackson, E. (2010) Understanding the nature and impact of young readers' literacy interactions with talking books and during adult reading support. 'Computers & Education.' 54(1), pp.190–198.

Wood, D., Bruner, J.S. and Ross, G. (1976) The role of tutoring in problem solving. 'Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry.' 17(2), pp.89-100.

Wyeth, P. (2008) How young children learn to program with sensor, action, and logic blocks. 'The Journal of the Learning Sciences.' 17, pp.517–550.

Yang, J.C., Chen, C.H. and Jeng, M.C. (2010) Integrating video-capture virtual reality technology into a physically interactive learning environment for English learning. 'Computers & Education.' 55, pp.1346–1356.

Yarosh, S., Inkpen, K.M. and Brush, A.J.B. (2010) Video playdate: toward free play across distance. In E. Mynatt, G. Fitzpatrick, S. Hudson, K. Edwards and T. Rodden (Eds) 'CHI '10: Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems.' Atlanta, GA, USA, April 10–15, 2010. pp.1251–1260. New York, NY: ACM Press.

Yeh, Y-F., Chen, M-C., Hung, P-H. and Hwang, G-J. (2010) Optimal self-explanation prompt design in dynamic multi-representational learning environments. 'Computers & Education.' 54(4), pp.1089-1100.

Yoon, S.A., Elinich, K.J., Steinmeier, C., Wang, J. and Tucker, S. (2011) Learning science through knowledge-building and augmented reality in museums. In H. Spada, G. Stahl, N. Miyake and N. Law (Eds) 'CSCL2011: Computer-supported Collaborative Learning.' Conference Proceedings Volume I. pp.9–16. Alpharetta, GA: International Society of the Learning Sciences.

Zapata-Rivera, D., Hansen, E., Shute, V., Underwood, J. and Bauer, M. (2007) Evidence-based approach to interacting with open student models. 'International Journal of Artificial Intelligence in Education.' 17, pp.273-303.

ENDNOTES

- 1. James (2010).
- 2. Crook et al. (2010).
- 3. Luckin (2010).
- 4.Bloom (1984).
- 5. See http://www.khanacademy.org/
- 6.See http://www.k12.com/
- 7. Hennessy (2011); Lopez (2010).
- 8. Greene, Bolick and Robertson (2010).
- 9. Fischer, and Schwan (2010); Schmidt-Weigand, Kohnert, and Glowalla (2010); Watson et al. (2010).
- 10. Heilesen (2010).
- 11. Saerbeck et al. (2010).
- 12. Alaviand and Dillenbourg (2011).
- 13. See http:// http://www.mathsdoctor.tv/ and https://www.remind101.com/
- 14. See http://yoursmarticles.blogspot.co.uk/2011/04/video-sequencing.html; http://www.l4l.co.uk/?p=2656; and http://www. youtube.com/user/Vihart
- 15. See http://digitaltoolsforteachers.blogspot.co.uk/; and http://www.educationeye.org.uk/
- 16. See http://tbarrett.edublogs.org/2009/10/14/nintendo-wii-golf-subtraction/
- 17. See http://digitaleducationbrighton.org.uk/?cat=3
- 18. Watson et al. (2010); Fischer and Schwan (2010).
- 19. Wieling and Hofman (2010).
- 20.Heilesen (2010).
- 21. Ainsworth (2008)
- 22. Bligh and Sharples (2010); Lanir, Booth and Hawkey (2010).
- 23. Hennessy (2011); Lopez (2010).
- 24. Ruchter, Klar and Geiger (2010).
- 25. Greene, Bolick and Robertson (2010).
- 26. Just as hyperlinks link digital information through text, hypermedia is the linking of digital information using multimedia, such as video, audio, or graphics. This is a common feature of many websites and social networking platforms, such as Twitter.
- 27. Kember et al. (2010).
- 28. Dixon et al. (2010)
- 29. Hartmann et al. (2010).
- 30. Saerbeck et al. (2010).
- 31. See http://yoursmarticles.blogspot.co.uk/2011/04/video-sequencing.html
- 32. See http://tbarrett.edublogs.org/2009/10/14/nintendo-wii-golf-subtraction/
- 33. An event where educational businesses share ideas with teachers. For further information please see: http://digitaleducationbrighton.org.uk/?p=229
- 34.Near Field Communication (NFC) uses radio communication or small chips to enable two or more pieces of technology to connect when nearby. This technology has become increasingly popular for such things as public transit passes and touch transactions using mobile phones. New uses of NFC continue to be developed and adapted for a variety of other purposes.
- 35. See http://digitaleducationbrighton.org.uk/?cat=3
- 36. See http://www.mathsdoctor.tv/
- 37. See http://www.educationeye.org.uk/
- 38. See http://www.solarstormwatch.com
- 39. See http://www.boomwriter.com/home/about
- 40.Wise, A. and Chiu, M.M. (2011).
- 41. Wise and Chiu (2011); Lazakidou and Retalis (2010).
- 42. Baumer, Sinclair and Tomlinson (2010).
- 43. Wise and Chiu (2011).
- 44.Alvarez et al. (2010); Haller et al. (2010).
- 45.Brooks (2011); Haller et al. (2010).
- 46.Looi (2010); Hennessy (2011).
- 47. Chi et al. (2010); Bao et al. (2010).
- 48.Phielix et al. (2011); Noguchi et al. (2010).
- 49.Looi (2010).
- 50. Hatch et al. (2011).
- 51. Loll and Pinkwart (2011).
- 52. Arroyo et al. (2011); Wood et al. (2011).
- 53. See http://www.papert.org/
- 54.See http://scratch.mit.edu/
- 55. See http://ccl.northwestern.edu/netlogo/
- 56. See http://impromptu.moso.com.au/
- 57. See http://makerfaireuk.com/
- 58. See http://makezine.com/

59. Mu (2010). 60.de Smet et al. (2011). 61. Wishart and Triggs (2010). 62. See http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/technology-17740143 63.See http://www.boxoftricks.net/2011/12/teaching-and-learning-with-social-media-a-case-study/ 64.QR (Quick Response) codes are easy to create barcodes which can be read by image sensors, such as cameras on digital devices. Originally created for the automobile industry, they are now used widely to link people with digital information for everything from advertising to airline tickets. 65. See http://missaliceleung.wordpress.com/category/geolocation/ 66.See http://www.hummingbirdkit.com/ 67. See http://www.fastcoexist.com/1680168/hummingbird-an-educational-robotics-kit-designed-to-get-girls-into-engineering#1 68.See http://youngrewiredstate.org/ 69.See https://www.poly.edu/node/7544 70. Eow et al. (2010). 71. Goulding and Kyriacou (2010). 72. Harlen, Deakin and Crick (2003). 73. Steffens (2012). 74. Wyeth (2008). 75. Faridani et al. (2010). 76. See http://opinion.berkeley.edu/ 77. Moraveji et al. (2011). 78. Liang and Sedig (2010). 79. Jacucci et al. (2010). 80.See http://www.ted.com/talks/lang/en/sugata_mitra_shows_how_kids_teach_themselves.html 81. Anastopoulou et al. (2012). 82. National Science Foundation (2000) our emphasis. 83. de Jong (2012). 84.Facer et al. (2004). 85. Anastopoulou et al. (2012). 86.See http://digitaleducationbrighton.org.uk/?cat=3 87. See http://www.mathalicious.com/about/ 88. See http://ilearntechnology.com/ 89. See http://ilearntechnology.com/ 90.Kordaki (2010). 91. Shaffer (2006) 92. Trundle and Bell (2010); see also http://www.starrynight.com/ 93.de Jong et al. (2010). 94. Méndez and González (2010). 95. Fuzzy logic controllers are devices used to control mechanical devices and software. Using a unique mathematic system, they are able to better capture and react to the fuzzy implications of human situations and thought than traditional logic systems in mechanical and digital devices. 96.Dorn and Guzdial (2010). 97. Yoon et al. (2011). 98. Thorndike (1922). 99. Fischer and Schwan (2010). 100. Tian et al. (2010) 101. Bots, or Internet robots, are a form of software program that provides automated responses to repetitive tasks and queries on the Internet. Bots have become particularly popular for commercial uses, such as online assistants and advertising. 102. See http://nikpeachey.blogspot.co.uk/ 103. See http://motionmathgames.com/about/ 104. See http://www.buzzmath.com/ 105. Habgood and Ainsworth (2011); see Case Study. 106. Beevers (2010); Elliot (2007); Pachler et al. (2009). 107. Winkley (2010); Ripley (2007); Bull and Kay (2007); Zapata-Rivera et al. (2007). 108. See http://audacity.sourceforge.net/ 109. See http://www.techsmith.com/iing.html 110. See http://www.surveymonkey.com/ 111. Schnaubert et al. (2011). 112. Branham et al. (2010). 113. Balaam et al. (2010).

- 114. de-Marcos et al. (2010).
- 115. See http://yoursmarticles.blogspot.co.uk/2009/05/podcast-year-in-review-project.html
- 116. See http://edtap.psu.edu/video/outdoors/
- 117. See http://www.classdojo.com/about#how
- 118. Berlanga et al. (2010).
- 119. Naudé et al. (2010).
- 120. Bennett and Cunningham (2009).
- 121. Jewitt et al. (2010).
- 122. Luckin et al. (2008); Elliott (2007).

- 123. Kong (2010).
- 124. Yeh et al. (2010).
- 125. Kalnikaite et al. (2010).
- 126. See http://ecomobile.gse.harvard.edu/
- 127. Wake, Guribye, and Wasson (2011).
- 128. See http://www.purplemash.com
- 129. Grant (2009).
- 130. See http://digitaleducationbrighton.org.uk/?cat=3
- 131. Chen et al. (2009).
- 132. Liaw et al. (2010).
- 133. Lewin and Luckin (2010).
- 134. Grant (2009).
- 135. See http://yoursmarticles.blogspot.co.uk/2009/05/podcast-year-in-review-project.html
- 136. Wishart and Triggs (2010).
- 137. Wishart and Triggs (2010).
- 138. See http://www.ictopus.org.uk/
- 139. Hartmann et al. (2010).
- 140. See http://q2l.org/node/13
- 141. See http://education.apple.com/acot2/global/files/ACOT2_Background.pdf
- 142. See http://www.pz.harvard.edu/research/SmartSch.htm
- 143. Greene et al. (2010).
- 144. Kember et al. (2010).
- 145. http://www.knowledgeforum.com/
- 146. See http://www.kp-lab.org/
- 147. Luckin (2010).
- 148. Grant (2011).
- 149. For example, Lewin and Luckin (2010).
- 150. For example, Brusilovsky, Hsiao and Folajimi (2011).
- 151. See http://missaliceleung.wordpress.com/category/xbox/
- 152. Ruchter, Klar and Geiger (2010).
- 153. For example, Arroyo et al. (2011); Yoon et al. (2011).
- 154. See http://www.ted.com/talks/lang/en/sugata_mitra_shows_how_kids_teach_themselves.html
- 155. For example, Greene, Bolick and Robertson (2010).
- 156. See http://www.livescience.com/5109-world-warcraft-video-game-succeeds-school.html
- 157. Priestley and Humes (2010).
- 158. Raffle et al. (2010).
- 159. See http://digitaleducationbrighton.org.uk/?cat=3
- 160. See http://youngrewiredstate.org/
- 161. See http://www.ictopus.org.uk/
- 162. See http://tbarrett.edublogs.org/2009/02/25/using-instant-messaging-to-engage-children-with-reading-comprehension/
- 163. See www.tes.co.uk
- 164. See http://www.khanacademy.org/about
- 165. See http://www.teachhub.com/50-ways-use-twitter-classroom
- 166. See http://www.teachmeet.org.uk/
- 167. See http://www.meetup.com/TechHeads-Network/
- 168. See http://www.tagdev.co.uk/news/61
- 169. See http://www.winsteps.com/facets.htm



Nesta

1 Plough Place London EC4A 1DE

research@nesta.org.uk www.twitter.com/nesta_uk www.facebook.com/nesta.uk

www.nesta.org.uk

November 2012